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The Hon. Eric Ripper BA, Dip Ed, MLA

Treasurer of Western Australia

In accordance with Section 66 of the Financial

Administration and Audit Act 1985, I hereby submit

my Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2002

for your information and presentation to Parliament.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accor-

dance with the provisions of the Financial

Administration and Audit Act 1985 and Treasurer’s

Instructions.

DR KEN MICHAEL AM CitWA

ACTING INDEPENDENT GAS PIPELINES

ACCESS REGULATOR

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OFFICE OF GAS ACCESS REGULATION

30 August 2002  
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PURPOSE

The Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines

Access Regulator has responsibility for ensuring

that gas transportation services on regulated

pipelines are provided on terms, conditions and

prices that are fair and reasonable.  This is

achieved by the Regulator approving such terms,

conditions and prices (referred to as Access

Arrangements) to be consistent with a National Gas

Pipelines Access Code.

MISSION

The Regulator’s mission is to promote free and fair

trade in gas by facilitating the effective and efficient

regulation of access to gas pipelines wholly located

in Western Australia at the lowest practicable regu-

latory cost.

OBJECTIVES

The Regulator’s principal objectives are to:

• promote a competitive market for natural gas in 

which customers may choose suppliers, includ-

ing producers, retailers and traders; and

• prevent abuse of monopoly power; and

• provide rights of access to natural gas pipelines 

on conditions that are fair and reasonable for the

owners and operators of gas transmission and 

distribution pipelines and persons wishing to use 

the services of those pipelines; and

• provide for resolution of disputes; and

• facilitate the development and operation of a 

national market for natural gas.

VISION

The Regulator’s vision is to achieve a vigorously

competitive natural gas market in Western Australia

with minimal regulatory oversight.

CLIENTS

The clients of the Regulator are gas pipeline own-

ers, pipeline users, consumers of gas and other

interested parties.

FUNCTIONS

The main function of the Regulator is to approve

Access Arrangements proposed by owners of regu-

lated pipelines.

SUPPORT

The Regulator is assisted by a small secretariat of

six full-time staff who operate the Office of Gas

Access Regulation (O ffGAR), under the Regulator

as head.  The Regulator is also assisted by contract

staff and expert consultants as required.
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ACHIEVEMENTS

In granting final approval to the Access

Arrangement for the Tubridgi Pipeline System on

19 October 2001, the Regulator completed all of the

initial assessments other than those for the

Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline and the

Goldfields Gas Pipeline.  While the Regulator made

some progress toward finalising the Access

Arrangements for these pipelines, this has been

delayed by Court action initiated by the owners of

these pipelines.

Other regulatory achievements included the

approval, on 30 April 2002, of an Associate

Contract between AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd and

AlintaGas Sales Pty Ltd.  In addition, considerable

progress was made in relation to planned reviews

and improvements in the management of the Office

of Gas Access Regulation.  

INDICATORS

The Regulator has two outputs.  These are the

approval of proposed Access Arrangements and the

oversighting of regulated pipelines.  During 2001/02

the Regulator approved the equivalent of 1.1

Access Arrangements for pipelines whose values

have been standardised at $500m.  Over the same

period the Regulator oversighted the equivalent of

5.1 standard $500m regulated pipelines.  
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Figure 1

Figure 2

OUTPUT 1

Number of Access Arrangements approved

Figure 1 shows that the number of equivalent stan-

dard Access Arrangements approved has declined

each year.  This recognises that, as Access

Arrangements are approved, the amount of remain-

ing work declines.  However, reaching agreement

on the remaining approvals has become more time-

consuming.  The legal action initiated by Epic

Energy (WA) Transmission Pty Ltd and the owners

of the Goldfields Gas Pipeline against draft deci-

sions issued by the Regulator has delayed finalisa-

tion of these decisions.

Cost of Output 1

Figure 2 shows that the average cost of approving

an Access Arrangement has declined relative to last

year, although this cost was expected to be much

greater.  The average cost per approval was

expected to increase, owing to a more complex

assessment process than anticipated.  While the

legal action taken by Epic Energy and Goldfields

Gas Transmission has delayed the assessment

process thus reducing costs, the litigation has intro-

duced additional legal costs that are accounted for

separately.  
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Figure 3

Figure 4

OUTPUT 2

Number of regulated pipelines oversighted

Figure 3 shows the number of equivalent standard

pipelines oversighted.  This number has remained

reasonably constant over the past three years,

although some changes have occurred.  In particu-

lar, ‘coverage’ of the Parmelia Pipeline was revoked

on 1 April 2002, with the result that this pipeline

ceased to be a regulated pipeline under the

National Third Party Access Code for Natural Gas

Pipelines (the Code) from that date onward.

Cost of Output   2

Figure 4 shows that the average annual cost of

oversighting an equivalent standard $500m pipeline

has increased from $133,000 in 1999/2000 to

$181,000 in 2001/02.  With the increased number

of approved Access Arrangements, a greater pro-

portion of costs is attributable to the oversighting

role.
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Figure 5

Figure 6

Time taken to approve Access Arrangements

Figure 5 shows that the average time for an Access

Arrangement to be approved from the time that it is

lodged in Western Australia increased from 25

months in 1999/2000 to 32 months in 2000/01, but

has been reduced to 25 months in 2001/02.  The

time taken has been greater than expected in each

of these years.  The time taken to approve Access

Arrangements has been longer than expected

throughout Australia.

Timeliness

Figure 6 shows the proportion of interested parties

satisfied or very satisfied with OffGAR responding

to issues in a timely manner.  This information is

obtained from a survey of interested parties regis-

tered with OffGAR.  The survey indicated that inter-

ested parties were slightly more satisfied with

OffGAR responding to issues in a timely manner in

2001/02 as compared with the previous year.

However, the level of satisfaction with respect to

timeliness remained very low, even though satisfac-

tion with OffGAR was generally consistent with the

level of satisfaction with the National Gas Access

Regime.  
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Figure 7

Figure 8

Securing rights of access to gas pipelines

Figure 7 shows the proportion of parties satisfied or

very satisfied with OffGAR’s activities in “helping to

secure rights of access to natural gas pipelines”.

The proportion of interested parties satisfied or very

satisfied with OffGAR in helping to secure rights of

access to natural gas pipelines in 2001/02 has not

changed significantly from the previous year. 

Promoting competition

Figure 8 shows that the proportion of parties satis-

fied or very satisfied with OffGAR’s activities in “pro-

moting competition to natural gas pipelines” in

2001/02 is also comparable with the previous year.
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Figure 9

Figure 10

Expenditure

Figure 9 shows that total actual expenditure has

declined since 1999/2000.  In addition, total expen-

diture has been below target in each of the years.

This expenditure does not, however, include

extraordinary expenditure of $671,301 attributable

to the legal action taken by Epic Energy and

Goldfields Gas Transmission.

Expenditure by the agency is funded by fees and

charges payable by the operators of regulated

pipelines.  The agency seeks to break even from

year to year.  In the 2001/02 financial year, the net

cost of services resulted in a small surplus of

$20,000.  An amount of $1.121m was outstanding

as receivables at the close of the reporting year.

Staff

Figure 10 shows that the number of permanent full-

time positions to support the activities of the

Regulator and Arbitrator has increased by two posi-

tions since 1999/2000 from five positions to seven.

At the end of the reporting year, six of the seven

permanent full-time positions were filled.  
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HIGHLIGHTS

During the year the Regulator approved:

• the Access Arrangement for the Tubridgi Pipeline

System (19 October 2001); and

• an Associate Contract between AlintaGas 

Networks Pty Ltd and AlintaGas Sales Pty Ltd 

(30 April 2002).

Legal action was brought against the Regulator by

the owners of:

• the Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline on 

16 August 2001; and

• the Goldfields Gas Pipeline on 13 December 

2001.

Dr Michael’s three-year term as Regulator ended on

1 June 2002 and he was reappointed in an acting

capacity.  The legislation does not

provide for any extension of the

term and, as such, the position 

will be advertised.  



It is now three and a half years since the office of

the Regulator and its support agency, the Office of

Gas Access Regulation, were established.  In that

time we have made every effort to put in place the

highest standards of integrity, probity and responsi-

ble care in administering the regulatory regime that

guides access to regulated gas pipelines in

Western Australia.  In particular, considerable effort

has been made to establish and maintain an open

and transparent regulatory process, providing all

parties an equal opportunity to comment on the

matters under consideration.

The principal activity over the period has been the

assessment and approval of proposed Access

Arrangements for five gas pipeline systems: the

Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline

(DBNGP), the Goldfields Gas Pipeline, the Mid-

West and South-West Gas Distribution Systems,

the Parmelia Pipeline and the Tubridgi Pipeline

System.  These pipelines and pipeline systems

were specified by the enabling legislation, the Gas

Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act 1998, as

regulated pipelines.

To date, the Access Arrangements for three of these

have been approved, although on the recommenda-

tion of the National Competition Council, the

Western Australian Treasurer, The Hon. Eric Ripper

MLA, revoked coverage of the Parmelia Pipeline

such that this pipeline ceased to be regu-

lated on 1 April 2002.

Attention has also been given to related regulatory

activities such as an Associate Contract between

the gas sales and gas distribution businesses of

AlintaGas, submitted to me for approval on

9 April 2002.  The purpose of this contract was to

promote the use of natural gas in AlintaGas’

Distribution Systems and was approved by me on

30 April 2002.

At the close of the financial year, AlintaGas

Networks Pty Ltd also submitted an application

seeking my agreement on costs for the introduction

of Full Retail Contestability (FRC) in the Western

Australian gas market.  The assessment process,

which involves public consultation together with

draft and final decisions, is currently well advanced.
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Considerable progress has also been made in

administration matters, with reviews of the agency’s

accounting manual, code of conduct and risk man-

agement policy being completed and with the

agency’s financial management reporting system

and information technology systems being further

upgraded.

During the year, Supreme Court actions were initiat-

ed by Epic Energy (WA) Transmission Pty Ltd (Epic

Energy) and Southern Cross Pipelines Australia Pty

Ltd, Southern Cross Pipelines (NPL) Australia Pty

Ltd and Duke Energy WA Power Pty Ltd, the own-

ers of the Goldfields Gas Pipeline (GGP).  Both

actions were in respect of draft decisions issued by

me, one for the DBNGP and the other for the

Goldfields Gas Pipeline.

While the Court reserved its decision following the

hearing on the DBNGP in November 2001, the

action relating to the Goldfields Gas Pipeline has

not yet reached the stage of a Court hearing.

On 23 August 2002, the Western Australian

Supreme Court handed down its decision on the

Epic Energy legal challenge to my draft decision.

Although the Court found that the draft decision

contained some errors of law, the court did not set

aside the draft decision, did not consider it neces-

sary to grant Epic Energy the prerogative relief it

sought and found that Epic Energy was afforded

procedural fairness.  The court did, however, con-

sider that declaratory relief should be provided, giv-

ing guidance on a number of difficult issues relating

to the construction of the Code.

In accordance with the decision of the Court, I now

propose to issue a final decision after giving due

consideration to all of the matters raised by the

Court, together with the issues raised in all submis-

sions.

One of the important strengths of the gas access

regime is the emphasis it places on public consulta-

tion and the process of draft and final decisions

before final approval.  This process provides con-

siderable scope for matters of concern to be prop-

erly addressed.  Whilst this process is time-con-

suming and can be the source of dissatisfaction,

particularly in relation to the timeliness of decisions,

it is important that the impacts of access regulation

on stakeholders are not disregarded in the interests

of expediency.

Access regulation affects the property rights of

pipeline owners, their legitimate business interests,

raises concerns regarding commercial confidentiali-

ty, and can be intrusive and prescriptive.  Given the

current stage of implementation of regulation of pri-

vately owned monopoly infrastructure, it should be

no surprise that the transition to such a system in

Australia has been a challenge.

It should also be noted that the continuing reviews

of the regulatory environment, including the current

Council of Australian Governments’ review of ener-

gy markets and the proposal for a review of the

Code, maintains a high degree of uncertainty within

the industry with adverse impacts on the timeliness

of regulatory decisions.
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While some parts of the industry have called for a

more light-handed approach to the regulation of

pipeline access, it is also important to be aware

that, to be effective, the level of prescription neces-

sarily needs to be commensurate with its objec-

tives.  One of the objectives, for example, which is

the prevention of the abuse of monopoly power,

requires a regulatory regime that is sufficiently

robust to withstand conflicting commercial pres-

sures.

Flexibility is another important attribute that I have

exercised in several decisions over the past three

and a half years.  Examples include the use of the

capital redundancy provisions of the Code, both for

the Parmelia Pipeline and, more recently, the

Tubridgi Pipeline System, for which I issued a com-

bined final decision and approval in October 2001.

Another example is the conditional, but long-term

extension of time that I granted to the Kalgoorlie to

Kambalda Pipeline to submit a proposed Access

Arrangement.  This extension of time deferred the

costs of preparing a proposed Access Arrangement

for this small pipeline until such time as there is an

explicit need for such an arrangement.

The ability to take a flexible approach exists within

the Code.  The issue of flexibility is a question of

balancing many competing elements including the

interests of the owners of the regulated pipelines,

the interests of users and prospective users of the

monopoly infrastructure and the public interest.

The Government has announced the establishment

of the Economic Regulation Authority (ERA) for gas,

rail, water and electricity utilities.  Under this

arrangement the office of the Gas Access Regulator

will become part of the ERA.  I have no doubt that

the consolidation of the State’s economic regulatory

functions into one agency will benefit access regu-

lation by increasing the pool of available expertise

to deal with access matters, by providing consisten-

cy with other utility regimes and by ensuring that

there is a continuing exchange of knowledge and

ideas in the approach to regulation across all utili-

ties.

The results of this year have involved considerable

effort and commitment by the small dedicated and

valued team within the Office.  I would like to sin-

cerely thank the Executive Director, Peter Kolf, the

staff at OffGAR and all those providing assistance

to myself and the office, for their ongoing support

and invaluable efforts.

DR KEN MICHAEL AM CitWA

ACTING INDEPENDENT GAS PIPELINES

ACCESS REGULATOR
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THE YEAR’S ACTIVITIES

The Regulator’s work program for the year has

been a continuation of that which commenced when

the office was first established in February 1999.  At

the time the enabling legislation was enacted, 11

pipelines were listed as regulated pipelines.  Under

the legislation, the owners of these pipelines were

required to make application to the Regulator for

approval of ‘Access Arrangements’ that specify the

commercial terms, conditions and tariffs for the

transport of gas on their pipelines by other parties.

By the beginning of the 2001/02 financial year, five

pipelines had been deleted from the list of regulated

pipelines, two had their Access Arrangements fully

approved, three were in the assessment process

and one was subject to an extension of time to sub-

mit its proposed Access Arrangement by

1 December 2002.

PLANNED ACHIEVEMENTS

At the commencement of the financial year, a pro-

gram had been developed to finalise the approvals

for the remaining three pipelines for which draft

decisions had been issued by the Regulator.  It was

anticipated that these approvals would be finalised

in the first half of the financial year.

With the expectation of all approvals having been

completed, it was further anticipated that a number

of reviews could be undertaken in the second half

of the financial year.  These would include a rate of

return study to consider any special circumstances

applicable to Western Australian pipelines and a

review of the effectiveness of the gas access regu-

latory approaches adopted in this State.

To reduce the cost of preparing and assessing

Access Arrangements, the Regulator had also

planned to commence work on the preparation of

template approaches that could be adopted by

pipeline service providers in dealing with issues

such as terms and conditions.  This would provide a

guide for the development of customised Access

Arrangements by service providers and could signif-

icantly reduce the cost of assessing an Access

Arrangement where a service provider nominates to

adopt the template.

Work programs had also been developed to review

and revise administrative arrangements, including

substantially revising OffGAR’s accounting manual,

accounting systems, code of conduct and risk man-

agement policy as well as to make other improve-

ments particularly in the information technology

area.

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS

By the end of the financial year, approvals had

been issued for all regulated pipelines except the

Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline (DBNGP)

and the Goldfields Gas Pipeline.  In addition, a

range of associated decisions and approvals had

been completed.

Possibly the most significant development during

the year was that on 16 August 2001, Epic Energy

issued a writ seeking prerogative relief in the
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Supreme Court of Western Australia in relation to

the Regulator’s draft decision on the proposed

Access Arrangement for the DBNGP.  This action

seriously impacted on the Regulator’s ability to

progress the assessment of the DBNGP Access

Arrangement and resulted in significant legal

expenses.

The hearing by the full bench of the Supreme Court

of Western Australia on the Epic Energy legal action

was held over a six-day period, concluding on

28 November 2001.  AlintaGas Ltd appeared as the

principal contradictor with the Regulator appearing

but, having regard to his statutory role, his role was

limited to adducing evidence and making submis-

sions as to the proper construction of the Code and

the procedures of the Regulator to assist the Court.

The Supreme Court reserved its decision and this

situation remained at the end of the financial year.

On 19 October 2001, the Regulator issued a com-

bined final decision and approval for the Tubridgi

Pipeline System Access Arrangement.  This devel-

opment brought the number of approved arrange-

ments to three, leaving those for the DBNGP and

Goldfields Gas Pipeline yet to be completed.

An extension of time to submit an Access

Arrangement for the Kalgoorlie to Kambalda natural

gas pipeline was withdrawn during the year.

Following successful commercial negotiations

between the owner of the pipeline and a potential

third-party user of gas transport services on the

pipeline, a new extension of time to submit an 

Access Arrangement was granted until 1 July 2004.

The scheduled work program of the Regulator was

also affected by a writ issued by the owners of the

Goldfields Gas Pipeline in the Supreme Court of

Western Australia on 13 December 2001, naming

the Regulator and the State of Western Australia as

defendants.

Prior to this legal action, the owners of the

Goldfields Gas Pipeline had made submissions to

the Regulator, citing specific provisions of a State

Agreement Act for the Goldfields Gas Pipeline con-

tending that section 8 of the National Gas Pipelines

Access Code did not apply to this pipeline.  Section

8 of the Code specifies the principles to be used in

determining gas transmission tariffs for pipelines

regulated under the Code.
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Other regulatory achievements included the

approval, on 30 April 2002, of an Associate

Contract between AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd and

AlintaGas Sales Pty Ltd.  The approval followed an

assessment by the Regulator concluding that the

Associate Contract was unlikely to have the effect

of substantially lessening, preventing or hindering

competition in a market.

On 24 June 2002, AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd

made application seeking the Regulator’s agree-

ment on costs for the implementation of full retail

contestability (FRC) in the Western Australian gas

market.  FRC will make it possible for other partici-

pants to compete in the Western Australian retail

gas market.  By the end of the financial year,

arrangements were being progressed to arrange for

public consultation on this application.

In regard to the proposed reviews to be undertaken

in the second half of the financial year, a study to

review rates of return considered appropriate for

regulated pipelines in Western Australia had been

completed up to first draft stage.  It is intended that

this review will be completed and made available

for public consultation in the first half of the coming

financial year.
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Pipeline

AlintaGas Distribution Systems

DBNGP

Goldfields Gas Pipeline

Kalgoorlie to Kambalda Pipeline

Parmelia Pipeline

Tubridgi Pipeline System

Status

Approved 18 July 2000

Draft Decision issued 21 June 2001

Draft Decision issued 10 April 2001

Extension of time to 1 July 2004

Revoked 1 April 2002

Approved 19 October 2001

Status of Access Arrangements
at 30 June 2002



THE YEAR’S ACTIVITIES

Work has not yet commenced on the preparation of

template approaches to facilitate Access

Arrangements and this work has been rescheduled

until after all Access Arrangement approvals are in

place.

On the administrative side, considerable progress

has been made in relation to planned reviews and

improvements.  Reviews of the agency’s accounting

manual, code of conduct and risk management poli-

cy have been completed and have since been

approved and adopted.

Improvements have also been made to the project-

based cost accounting system, other administrative

procedures and information technology processes.

OUTPUTS AND OUTCOMES

The desired outcomes of the Regulator are essen-

tially the same as the objectives, which are to pro-

mote competition, prevent abuse of monopoly

power, provide rights of access to gas pipelines,

provide for resolution of disputes and facilitate a

national market for gas.

These desired outcomes are prescribed in the

enabling legislation and represent the

Government’s higher level desired outcomes.

In considering the Regulator’s range of activities

and the services provided, it was determined that

these basically fall into two categories.  One relates

to the approving of proposed Access Arrangements

submitted to the Regulator by owners of regulated

gas pipelines.  The other category relates to ancil-

lary activities and services that are unrelated to the

Access Arrangement approval process, but are nec-

essary activities as part of the ongoing oversighting

of regulated pipelines.

Examples of activities and services that fall into the

oversighting category include activities relating to

the approval or imposition of ring fencing obliga-

tions, approval of contracts between owners of reg-

ulated pipelines and firms associated with the own-

ers, pre-approval of proposed new facilities expen-

diture and the undertaking of reviews and studies

relating to the regulatory functions of the Regulator.

The outputs of the Regulator have therefore been

determined to be the approving of Access

Arrangements and the oversighting of regulated

pipelines.

The effectiveness with which the Regulator’s func-

tions are performed in delivering outputs can be

assessed by reference to the successful operation

of approved Access Arrangements, as indicated by

surveys of interested parties.

During the financial year the Regulator assessed

the equivalent of 1.1 standard Access

Arrangements and oversighted the equivalent of 5.1

standard pipelines.  This compares with 1.3 equiva-

lent standard Access Arrangements assessed dur-

ing the 2000/01 financial year and 5.1 equivalent

standard pipelines oversighted.

The standard referred to is that for a $500m

pipeline weighted on the basis of both the capital

value of the pipeline and the level of service esti-

mated to be provided to each of the regulated

pipelines.
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The cost for completing a standard Access

Arrangement during the financial year was recorded

at $366,000 and the cost of oversighting a standard

Access Arrangement was recorded at $181,000.

This compares with a cost of $539,000 for approv-

ing a standard Access Arrangement in the 2000/01

financial year and $173,000 for oversighting.

In addition, the Regulator also incurred extraordi-

nary expenditure of $671,301 as a consequence of

the legal action by Epic Energy and the owners of

the Goldfields Gas Pipeline.

FINANCIAL ACHIEVEMENTS

The total cost of services of the Regulator in

2001/02 was $1.997m including the Regulator’s

remuneration and salaries for staff of the Office of

Gas Access Regulation, engagement of consult-

ants/contractors, depreciation of fixed assets, once-

off costs associated with legal proceedings initiated

by Epic Energy and Goldfields Gas Transmission 

concerning draft decisions issued by the Regulator

and costs associated with office administration. 

This compares to total cost of services of $1.596m

in 2000/01.

Although the estimates approved by the Treasurer

set the limit to which the Regulator can incur

expenses in the financial year, owing to the effect of

accrual accounting, this does not necessarily reflect

the level to which funds are reported as having

been expended.  The actual gross cash expenses

(excluding extraordinary expenses) of the Regulator

for 2001/02 ($1.495m) represent a result slightly

lower than the incurring limit approved by the

Minister for this expenditure.

By regulation, the Regulator is able to recoup oper-

ating expenses from pipeline operators in Western

Australia.  The agency seeks to break even from

year to year.  In the 2001/02 financial year, the net

cost of services resulted in a small surplus of

$20,000.  An amount of $1.121m was outstanding

as receivables at the close of the reporting year.

Full details of the operations of the Regulator are

disclosed in the 2001/02 Financial Statements

included in this report.

METHODS OF ACHIEVEMENT

With the principal activities of the agency being

entirely of a regulatory nature, the methods used in

performing the Regulator’s functions are specified

by the legislation.  In particular, the regime that reg-

ulates access to gas pipelines places a strong

emphasis on transparency and public disclosure.

This is reflected in the requirement for extensive

public consultation and the process of draft deci-

sion, final decision and final approval.  Under the

legislation, public consultation is normally required

before and after a draft decision.

The Regulator has given strong support to the pub-

lic processes specified in the legislation and consid-

erable emphasis has been placed on the efficiency

with which public consultation processes have been

conducted.
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Particular attention has been given to maintaining a

high standard web site which provides easy access

to relevant documents, public submissions, tran-

scripts and other background material.

The Regulator has also ensured his availability for

consultation with any interested party.  Public

forums have been held on all relevant occasions,

particularly so that interested parties could be given

the opportunity to make statements in public follow-

ing a draft decision by the Regulator.

In the interests of procedural fairness, the Regulator

has given all parties the same opportunities to con-

sider draft and final decisions.

It is recognised that the National Gas Pipelines

Access Code is prescriptive in parts and can be

intrusive in relation to information requirements.

Special efforts have been made to deal with these

matters sensitively and in a flexible way.  However,

the methods adopted have at all times sought to

preserve the integrity of the Code.

While the Regulator is not explicitly required to con-

sider issues such as the promotion of economic

development in the State, the Code generally allows

other matters that the Relevant Regulator considers

relevant to be taken into account.  In this respect

the Regulator has generally paid regard to the fol-

lowing:

• encourage economic development

• provide value to users of pipelines and con-

sumers of gas

• ensure pipeline owners can achieve a reason

able rate of return

• maximise flexibility

• balance competing interests.

In pursuing these matters the Regulator has adopt-

ed the following policies:

• ‘Open door’ policy.

• Unless confidential, information made available 

to the Regulator is made public.

• Information made available to any one party by 

the Regulator is available to all.

• Matters raised with the Regulator that are of gen-

eral interest are made public.

• The Regulator has reserved the right to express 

views on regulatory process, but does not 

engage in matters of government policy.

THE CHALLENGE AHEAD

The most pressing of the issues facing the

Regulator is the approval of the Access

Arrangements for the DBNGP and the Goldfields

Gas Pipeline.  These were before the Supreme

Court of Western Australia at the close of the finan-

cial year, with the result that no clear timing for

completing the assessment of these Access

Arrangements was available.  In these circum-

stances, the Regulator is progressing the assess-

ment process as far as possible with a view to

expediting the finalisation of the approvals as soon

as the Court hands down its decision.

The Regulator also seeks to progress, as far as

possible, a review of the assessment process that

has been developed in Western Australia.  Such a

review would be particularly beneficial recognising

other reviews currently in progress, including the

Energy Markets Review initiated by the Council of
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Australian Governments and a proposed review of

the National Gas Pipelines Access Regime includ-

ing the Code.

The review of the Western Australian assessment

process would also be beneficial as a prelude to the

review of existing Access Arrangements, the first of

which is scheduled to start in March 2004.

Another major issue is the transition in Western

Australia to an Economic Regulation Authority.  This

will involve the functions of the Regulator being

taken over by the Authority.  The challenge will be

to make this transition as smoothly as possible

without disrupting the current work program of the

Regulator while at the same time ensuring that the

benefits of being part of a larger agency are reflect-

ed in administrative and regulatory cost savings.

Such savings would flow back to the gas pipeline

operators that are responsible for the funding of

OffGAR.

INDEX BACK NEXT

20 Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator Annual Report 2002 



REGULATORY ACTIVITIES

The regulatory activities of the Regulator are sub-

stantially guided by the provisions of the National

Third Party Access Code for Natural Gas Pipelines

(the Code).

THE NATIONAL ACCESS CODE

The Code was agreed by all Australian govern-

ments in 1997.  It is included as a Schedule to the

Gas Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act 1998.

Its objectives include:

• facilitating the development and operation of a 

national market for natural gas; and

• providing rights of access to natural gas pipelines

on conditions that are fair and reasonable for 

both Service Providers and Users; and

• promoting a competitive market for natural gas in

which customers may choose suppliers, includ-

ing producers, retailers and traders; and

• preventing abuse of monopoly power; and

• providing for resolution of disputes.

Core provisions of the Code include:

• enabling access to gas pipelines on fair and rea-

sonable commercial terms and conditions;

• establishing reference tariffs for standard (refer-

ence) services, using a uniform process and 

established principles.  Reference tariffs apply 

unless the service provider and user agree on 

other arrangements; 

• ensuring that sufficient information is provided to 

users for them to judge the fairness of the tariff;

• facilitating the trading of unused pipeline capacity

and providing a fair basis for making new capaci-

ty available;

• promoting competition in upstream (exploration 

and production) and downstream (retail and trad-

ing) gas markets;

• ensuring the monopoly component of a pipeline 

business is ring fenced from components of the 

business operating in competitive markets; and 

• providing for dispute resolution and appeal 

mechanisms.

Not all gas pipelines in Western Australia are cov-

ered by the Code.  The decision on whether a

Western Australian gas pipeline should be covered

by the Code lies with the Western Australian

Treasurer on the recommendation of the National

Competition Council.

Once a decision is made for a pipeline to be cov-

ered, the service provider has 90 days to submit a

proposed Access Arrangement to the Regulator,

who then has six months to give approval.  There

are provisions for extending these times. 

A copy of the Code may be viewed on the web site

of the Code Registrar at

www.coderegistrar.sa.gov.au.
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OUTPUTS

As the outputs of the Regulator are heterogeneous

and wide ranging with the result that their composi-

tion tends to vary from year to year, they have been

classified into two categories for the purposes of

performance measurement.  Two outputs have

been determined: the approval of Access

Arrangements and the oversighting of covered gas

pipelines located in Western Australia.

Output 1 includes all matters relating to the assess-

ment or review of an Access Arrangement including

approving competitive tender approaches for deter-

mining reference tariffs.  Output 2 includes granting

waivers of ring fencing obligations or imposing addi-

tional ring fencing obligations, assessing and

approving Associate Contracts and enforcement

where breaches of the legislation arise.  Other

activities such as granting extensions of time for

parties to meet specified time limits, undertaking

public consultations and holding public forums on

any relevant matter may be relevant to either output

1 or output 2, but are included as an activity under

output 2.

The specific activities of the Regulator during the

reporting year are discussed below.

APPROVAL OF ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS

The Regulator’s functions relate to natural gas

pipelines that are wholly located in Western

Australia and that are regulated by the Code.  A

pipeline is regulated if a determination is made that

a pipeline is ‘covered’ by the Code.  The National

Competition Council (NCC) recommends to the rel-

evant Minister on whether a pipeline should be cov-

ered.  Section 1.9 of the Code provides that the

NCC must recommend that a pipeline be covered if

it is satisfied of all of the following:

(a) that access (or increased access) to the

pipeline would promote competition in at 

least one market;

(b) that it would be uneconomic for anyone to 

develop another pipeline to provide the 

services provided by the Pipeline;

(c) that access (or increased access) to the 

pipeline can be provided without undue risk to 

human health or safety; and

(d)  that access (or increased access) to the 

pipeline would not be contrary to the public 

interest.
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At the 30 June 2002 there were 25 covered

pipelines in Australia of which 16 have approved

Access Arrangements.  The average time taken for

those whose Access Arrangements have been

approved in Australia is 17 months as compared

with 18 months for Western Australia.

Of the Access Arrangements that have not been

approved, the average time taken to 30 June 2002

is 32 months for Australia as compared with 30

months for Western Australia.

With the revocation of coverage of the Parmelia

Pipeline, effective from 1 April 2002, the number of

regulated pipelines in Western Australia declined to

five, as follows:

Mid-West and South-West Gas Distribution 

Systems

Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline

Goldfields Gas Pipeline

Tubridgi Pipeline System

Kalgoorlie to Kambalda Pipeline.

The regulatory status of each of these pipelines is

discussed below.

Mid-West and South-West Gas Distribution

Systems

The Access Arrangement for the Mid-West and

South-West Gas Distribution Systems was

approved on 18 July 2000 and has been fully oper-

ational for just over two years.

On 9 April 2002, AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd

(Networks) submitted to the Regulator a proposed

promotion contract for it to contribute to a marketing

initiative by AlintaGas Sales Pty Ltd (Sales) to pro-

mote the utilisation of the Mid-West and South-West

Gas Distribution Systems. The Regulator consid-

ered the proposed contract to be an Associate

Contract under the Code.

The Code requires that a pipeline service provider

obtain approval from the Regulator for any

Associate Contract.  The Regulator may refuse to

approve an Associate Contract if the Regulator con-

siders that the contract would have the effect, or

would be likely to have the effect, of substantially

lessening, preventing or hindering competition in a

market.

Under section 7.2 of the Code, the Regulator may

approve the promotion contract without public con-

sultation if haulage services associated with the

Associate Contract are provided at the reference

tariff.  As the promotion contract did not affect the

provision of haulage services in this case, public

consultation was not considered necessary.

Under the promotion contract, Networks proposes

contributing to Sales’ promotional and administra-

tive expenses in respect of a marketing initiative

that will promote the use of the distribution system.

Networks has stated that it expects to be approach-

ed by other retailers of natural gas with similar pro-

motional initiatives when the natural gas retail mar-

ket is opened to full retail competition in 2003.

Networks submitted that the promotional initiative, if

successful, would result in increased throughput

through the gas distribution systems.  This increase

in throughput would be expected to be generated

with minimal risk and a marginal increase in expen-

diture resulting in better utilisation of the existing

infrastructure, with benefits to pipeline users and

gas consumers in the medium to long term.

INDEX BACK NEXT

23 Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator Annual Report 2002 

REPORT ON OPERATIONS



After assessment of the proposed promotion con-

tract, a decision to approve the contract was issued

on 30 April 2002.

On 24 June 2002, Networks submitted a proposal

that seeks the Regulator’s binding approval, under

section 8.21 of the Code, to the costs to be incurred

by Networks of developing systems associated with

the introduction of full retail contestability (FRC) in

Western Australia.  The effect of this approval

would have the costs of the investment by Networks

added to its capital base when its Access

Arrangement is reviewed in March 2004, and refer-

ence tariffs for use of its Mid-West and South-West

Gas Distribution Systems would be adjusted

accordingly.

Networks also requested that the Regulator provide

a non-binding acknowledgement that FRC-related

non-capital costs are likely to satisfy the require-

ments of section 8.37 of the Code.

The application by Networks requires that public

submissions be called for a period of at least 28

days before issuing a draft decision and then for a

further period of at least 14 days prior to issuing the

final decision.  The first period of public submis-

sions was called on 4 July 2002.

Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline

In December 1999, Epic Energy (WA) Transmission

Pty Ltd (Epic Energy) submitted a proposed Access

Arrangement for the Dampier to Bunbury Natural

Gas Pipeline.

The Regulator’s draft decision was issued on 21

June 2001.  The main elements of the draft decision

were:

• The decision was to not approve the proposed 

Access Arrangement and to require Epic Energy 

to make 79 amendments before it would be 

approved.

• A complicating factor in coming to the draft deci-

sion was consideration of the circumstances sur-

rounding the sale of the DBNGP.

• While Epic Energy proposed an Initial Capital 

Base value for the pipeline of $2.57 billion based

on its purchase price, the Regulator considered 

that this value should be set on the basis of the 

Depreciated Optimised Replacement Cost 

(DORC) of the pipeline, assessed at $1.234 bil-

lion.

• The Regulator determined a real pre-tax rate of 

return (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) for the

pipeline of 7.85 per cent, which was similar to 

the rate of return sought by Epic Energy in 

December 1999, after allowing for changes in 

interest rates and corporate tax rates since the 

proposed Access Arrangement had been lodged.

• The Regulator accepted, for the purposes of the 

draft decision, the proposals submitted by Epic 

Energy in respect of capital expenditure, non-

capital expenditure and forecast throughput.

• The Regulator accepted, in principle, Epic 

Energy’s proposed zonal tariff structure and ‘firm 

service’ with an average rate south of compres-

sor station 9 of 84 cents per gigajoule including, 

where appropriate, the user-specific delivery 

charge, but excluding the goods and services 

tax.

• The Regulator accepted Epic Energy’s proposed 

mechanism for annual escalation of tariffs to 
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account for inflation during the regulatory period. 

A public forum on the draft decision was held on

2 August 2001 and the period for public submis-

sions was extended to 28 September 2001.  As at

30 June 2002, a total of 148 public submissions

have been received, 52 of which were received

prior to the draft decision and the remaining 96 in

response to the draft decision.

On 16 August 2001, Epic Energy issued a writ in

the Supreme Court of Western Australia with the

Regulator as respondent.  Epic Energy sought to

have the draft decision quashed.

The matters raised by Epic Energy were the subject

of a Supreme Court hearing held at the end of

November 2001.  AlintaGas appeared as the sub-

stantive contradictor to the action brought by Epic

Energy.  The Regulator’s role was limited to making

submissions in relation to the construction of the

Code and the Regulator’s processes.  The

Supreme Court has reserved its decision.

While not proceeding to finalise the decision prior to

the Supreme Court handing down its decision, the

Regulator has commenced consideration of the

issues to be addressed.

The Regulator has issued information requests to

various parties, has met with Epic Energy, banks

and other financial institutions and is progressing

meetings with shippers of gas on the pipeline.

Meetings are also proposed with other interested

parties that have made submissions during the

course of the assessment process.

Once the decision of the Court is issued, it is pro-

posed that the assessment process should proceed

as swiftly as possible and it is expected that a deci-

sion could be available within six months.

Regardless of the outcome of the Court decision, it

is expected that further public consultation will be

necessary to allow interested parties to provide fur-

ther comment on various matters prior to the

Regulator’s final decision being issued.

Goldfields Gas Pipeline

On 15 December 1999, a proposed Access

Arrangement for the Goldfields Gas Pipeline (GGP)

was submitted by Goldfields Gas Transmission Pty

Ltd (GGT) on behalf of the owners of the Pipeline.

The GGP is owned by an unincorporated joint ven-

ture comprising:

• Southern Cross Pipelines Australia Pty Ltd 

whose individual share is 62.664 per cent;

• Southern Cross Pipelines (NPL) Australia Pty Ltd

whose individual share is 25.493 per cent; and

• Duke Energy WA Power Pty Ltd whose individual

share is 11.843 per cent.

Southern Cross Pipelines comprises the Australian

Pipeline Trust Ltd (45 per cent), CMS Gas

Transmission Australia Pty Ltd (45 per cent) and

TransAlta Energy Australia Pty Ltd (10 per cent).

The Pipeline is operated by GGT for and on behalf

of each of the owners.

The first round of public consultation on the pro-

posed Access Arrangement closed on the

3 March 2000 following two extensions of time

granted on the 12 January 2000 and the 4 February

2000.
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The Regulator’s draft decision for the GGP was

issued on 10 April 2001.  The main elements of the

draft decision were:

• The decision was to not approve the proposed 

Access Arrangement and to require GGT to 

make 49 amendments to the proposed Access 

Arrangement, 18 of which related to tariff issues 

including fees and charges and the remaining 31

related to non-tariff issues.

• A complicating factor of this draft decision was 

the need to give particular consideration to cer-

tain provisions of the Goldfields Gas Pipeline 

Agreement Act 1994, which regulated access to 

the GGP prior to 1 January 2000.

• While GGT proposed an initial capital base value

for the pipeline of $452.6m, based on a 

Depreciated Optimised Replacement Cost 

(DORC) methodology, the Regulator considered 

that this value should be set at $438m using the 

Depreciated Actual Cost (DAC) approach.  The 

Regulator considered that the DAC methodology 

was consistent with the provisions of the 

Goldfields Gas Pipeline Agreement Act 1994.

• The Regulator accepted the projected capital 

expenditure and forecast throughput for the 

pipeline as submitted by GGT for the purposes of

the draft decision.

• In regard to non-capital expenditure, the 

Regulator required further justification of the pro-

posed expenditure.

• The Regulator also determined that the life of the

pipeline should be based on the technical life of 

the GGP rather than the duration of two pipeline 

licence periods as proposed by GGT.

• The Regulator determined a real pre-tax rate of 

return (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) for the

pipeline of 7.95 per cent, which represented a 

significant reduction on the 12.2 per cent pro-

posed.

• The Regulator accepted, in principle, GGT’s pro-

posed distance-based tariff structure for different 

contract duration.

With the release of the draft decision, a further 

period of public consultation was called, with 

submissions to be received by 31 May 2001.

A public forum on the draft decision was held on 15

May 2001 and the period for public submissions

was extended to 13 July 2001.  As at 30 June 2002,

a total of 18 public submissions have been

received, 12 of which were received prior to the

draft decision and the remaining 6 in response to

the draft decision.

On 13 December 2001, the joint venturers issued a

writ in the Supreme Court of Western Australia with

the Regulator and the State of Western Australia as

respondents.  The joint venture owners sought to

have the draft decision overturned.  These matters

are unlikely to be heard by the Supreme Court

before the end of this year.

Pending the outcome of matters before the

Supreme Court, the Regulator is holding discus-

sions with GGT with a view to reaching agreement

on non-tariff matters.
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Tubridgi Pipeline System

The Tubridgi Pipeline System comprises the

Tubridgi and Griffin Pipelines, which run parallel to

each other in the north-west of the State.  The

pipelines are owned by a joint venture and are

operated by Origin Energy.

A proposed Access Arrangement was lodged for the

Tubridgi Pipeline System on 21 October 1999.  The

Regulator issued a draft decision on 7 August 2000,

with the decision being to not approve the Access

Arrangement as initially proposed.  Origin Energy

submitted a revised Access Arrangement on

28 September 2001.  The revised Access

Arrangement addressed the amendments required

by the Regulator and was approved on 19 October

2001.  The Access Arrangement became effective

14 days after the date of approval.

Kalgoorlie to Kambalda Pipeline

On 1 December 2000, the Regulator granted

Southern Cross Pipelines Australia Pty Ltd, the

owner and operator of the Kalgoorlie to Kambalda

Pipeline, an extension of time to submit a proposed

Access Arrangement to 1 December 2002.  The

extension of time was granted subject to anyone

making application to the Regulator seeking access

to the pipeline.  In that event, the extension of time

would be withdrawn and submission of an Access

Arrangement would be required within 90 days of

the date of the application.

Following an application by a proposed user seek-

ing access to the pipeline, the Regulator advised

the owners on 27 March 2002 that a proposed

Access Arrangement was required by 1 July 2002.

Following negotiations between owners of the

pipeline and the prospective user a satisfactory

agreement was reached, allowing the Regulator to

grant a new extension of time until 1 July 2004.

Parmelia Pipeline

An Access Arrangement for the Parmelia Pipeline

was approved on 15 December 2000.

On 31 October 2001, CMS Gas Transmission of

Australia, the owner and operator of the Parmelia

Pipeline, applied to the National Competition

Council for revocation of coverage of the pipeline.

On 20 February 2002, following a review of the

application for revocation and public consultation,

the NCC issued a final recommendation to the

Treasurer for coverage of the pipeline to be

revoked.  On 13 March 2002, the Minister decided

to revoke coverage of the pipeline effective from

1 April 2002.  Access to the pipeline is available on

the basis of commercial negotiation between CMS

and access-seekers.
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OVERSIGHTING OF REGULATED PIPELINES

While the assessment and review of Access

Arrangements represent a major part of the regula-

tor’s activities, there is an additional range of ancil-

lary functions that have been grouped together for

reporting purposes.  This group of activities is

referred to as the oversighting of regulated gas

pipelines.  The functions of the Regulator included

in this category are as follows:

• making application to the National Competition 

Council, at the request of another person, for 

coverage of a pipeline;

• notifying a pipeline service provider of the 

requirement to submit separate Access 

Arrangements under section 2.4 of the Code;

• assessing changes to reference tariffs under sec-

tion 3.30 of the Code;

• approving guidelines prepared by a pipeline serv-

ice provider under section 4.2(b) of the Code;

•   applying accounting guidelines to a pipeline serv-

ice provider under section 4.2(b) of the Code;

• imposing additional ring fencing obligations 

under section 4.3 of the Code;

• monitoring compliance with ring fencing obliga-

tions under sections 4.12 to 4.14 of the Code;

• assessing an application for the issue of a notice

waiving ring fencing obligations under sec-

tion 4.16 of the Code;

• assessing an information package for the pur-

poses of section 5.2 of the Code;

• assessing an application for approval to enter 

into an Associate Contract under section 7.1 of 

the Code;

• providing further information under section 7.14 

of the Code;

• assessing an application for extension of time 

under section 7.19 of the Code;

• assessing a written application under sec-

tion 8.21 of the Code seeking pre-approval of 

proposed capital expenditure under section 8.16 

of the Code; and

• initiating civil proceedings in respect of a civil 

penalty provision, a regulatory provision or a 

conduct provision under the gas access law.

Also included under the oversighting of gas

pipelines are the Regulator’s functions relating to:

• membership of the National Gas Pipelines 

Advisory Committee (NGPAC);

• representation on the Gas Retail Deregulation 

Steering Group;

• membership of the Electricity Code Working 

Group of the Western Australian Electricity 

Reform Task Force (ERTF);

• participation in the National Regulators Forum; 

and

• the work involved in the preparation and release 

for public comment, discussion or issues papers 

and the holding of public consultations concern-

ing any matter relevant to the Regulator’s func-

tions under the Code (section 2.1 of the Code).

The activities of the Regulator in respect of the

oversighting of gas pipelines for the reporting year

is summarised as follows:

• approval of a second Associate Contract for the 

Mid-West and South-West Gas Distribution 

Systems on 30 April 2002;

• issuing of 12 extensions of time;

• application by AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd seek-

ing the Regulator’s agreement on costs for the 

implementation of full retail contestability (FRC) 

in the Western Australian gas market;

• participation in five meetings of the National Gas 

Pipelines Advisory Committee;
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• attendance at 45 meetings of the Gas Retail 

Deregulation Steering Group and some associat-

ed working groups;

• attendance at six meetings of the Electricity 

Code Working Group;

• attendance at three meetings of the Regulators 

Forum;

• preparation of an issues paper on the rate of 

return for gas pipelines in Western Australia, 

completed to initial draft stage; and

• providing three presentations at conferences 

held during the year.

National Gas Pipelines Advisory Committee

The National Gas Pipelines Advisory Committee

(NGPAC) is the body responsible for maintaining

the Code.  It advises Ministers from the

Commonwealth, States and Territories on the oper-

ation of gas pipeline access regulation and on

amendments to the Code to improve the regulatory

regime.  The Code may be modified by agreement

of the Ministers.

NGPAC is central to the proper operation of the

regulatory approach to gas pipeline access agreed

by Australian governments.  The Committee has a

working group of officials to address the detail of

regulatory issues and to put forward drafting

changes.

In August 2000 the Regulator, Dr Ken Michael, was

appointed to NGPAC for two years as one of two

State Regulators on the Committee.  The Executive

Director of OffGAR, Mr Peter Kolf, was appointed

as the Regulator’s alternate and also appointed to

the NGPAC Working Group for two years.

NGPAC requires significant input from its member-

ship and from members of the working group.

The Code forms part of the uniform Gas Pipelines

Access Law under the Natural Gas Pipelines

Access Agreement entered into between all States

and Territories and the Commonwealth in

November 1997.  The agreement allows for

changes to be made to the Code on recommenda-

tion of NGPAC.  For changes affecting core provi-

sions, the agreement of all relevant Ministers is

required.  For other changes, two-thirds of relevant

Ministers must agree.

A current copy of the Code is maintained by the

Code Registrar based in South Australia and can

be downloaded from the Code Registrar’s web site

(http://www.coderegistrar.sa.gov.au/code.htm).

Changes to the Code become law in Western

Australia when they are gazetted in South Australia;

however, any changes to the Code are also

gazetted in Western Australia.

Details of the changes made to the Code since its

enactment as part of the Gas Pipelines Access

(Western Australia) Act 1998 are also available from

the Code Registrar’s web site referred to above.

Full Retail Contestability in Gas Distribution

During 2001/02, OffGAR had a continuing involve-

ment in the introduction of full retail contestability

(FRC) to the Mid-West and South-West Gas

Distribution Systems.  This involvement followed

earlier participation in discussions on the inter-con-

nection of the Parmelia Pipeline to the AlintaGas

network in the Perth region.
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The Gas Retail Deregulation Project was estab-

lished by the Western Australian Government to

consult and advise on the necessary codes, rules,

systems and procedures to support the introduction

of FRC to introduce competition into the residential

and small business gas market.

OffGAR is represented on the Gas Retail

Deregulation Steering Group as an observer to

respond to matters concerning access regulation

affecting the Gas Retail Deregulation Project estab-

lished in May 2001.  The current work being under-

taken by the Regulator in relation to the approval of

FRC costs under section 8.21 of the Code is con-

sistent with OffGAR’s representation on the Gas

Retail Deregulation Steering Group.

Electricity Reform Task Force

On 16 August 2001, the Western Australian

Government established the Electricity Reform Task

Force (ERTF) to consult widely and deliver recom-

mendations on:

• the design of a Western Australian electricity 

market,

• the extent and phasing of the division of Western

Power into separate public enterprises,

• a Western Australian electricity code, and

• arrangements for FRC, giving all customers a 

choice of power suppliers.

To assist with this task, the ERTF established four

working groups and invited OffGAR to nominate a

representative to be a member of the working group

responsible for making recommendations in relation

to an Electricity Code for Western Australia. The

objectives of the Electricity Code would be to:

• remove impediments to a competitive market for 

electricity;

• prevent abuse of monopoly power by 

owners/operators of electricity transmission and 

distribution systems;

• provide rights of access to transmission and dis-

tribution systems on fair and reasonable condi-

tions to all participants including renewable ener-

gy, combined cycle cogeneration plants and dis-

tributed generation;

• determine the role, functions and powers in rela-

tion to electricity of the Economic Regulator, and 

associated appeal and arbitration bodies; and 

• provide a mechanism for dispute resolution.

In recognition of the similarities of the objectives

between the Gas Code and the proposed Electricity

Code and OffGAR’s experience in working with the

Gas Code, OffGAR nominated a staff member to be

represented on the Electricity Code working group.

The working group has released discussion papers

for public consultation and further information is

available from ERTF’s web site:

http://www.ertf.energy.wa.gov.au/.
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National Regulators Forum

Regulators from the Commonwealth, States and

Territories across the full range of regulated servic-

es and regulated industries meet about three times

each year.  The Australian Competition and

Consumer Commission (ACCC) provides the nec-

essary secretarial support and chairs the forum.

Regulators discuss issues relevant to regulatory

regimes within their various jurisdictions.  The forum

seeks to promote consistency and best practice in

regulation throughout Australia.  The forum also

provides regulators the opportunity to discuss topi-

cal issues such as benchmarking, rate of return,

information collection and other relevant matters.

The forum issues information papers with input from

regulators across Australia.  Further information on

the Regulators Forum is available from the ACCC

web site:  http://www.accc.gov.au/.

OUTPUT MEASURES AND PERFORMANCE 

INDICATORS

Treasurer’s Instruction 904 requires information to

be provided on the quantity, quality, timeliness and

cost of the agency’s outputs.

Performance measures on each of these outputs

are set out below.  While explanatory notes on the

calculation and interpretation of performance meas-

ures are provided in relation to each of the tables

presented, there is a need to also provide a brief

general overview on the units of measurement

adopted to assist interpretation.

Equivalent Standard Outputs

The output measures presented in this report are

expressed in terms of equivalent units that have

been standardised for a pipeline or pipeline system

whose capital value is $500m.

The need to adopt equivalent units of measurement

arises because the assessment of an Access

Arrangement can take many months, with the result

that a substantial amount of work in progress will

exist at the end of a financial year.  If, for example,

an approval takes one year commencing on

1 January, then this would be reported as an equiv-

alent of half of an Access Arrangement being com-

pleted in one financial year and the other half the

following financial year.

In addition, as the capital value of pipelines can

vary from tens of millions of dollars to several billion

dollars and the composition of pipelines under regu-

lation varies from one year to the next, there is a

need to adopt a reference pipeline that remains

constant from year to year.  The reference pipeline

for the purposes of this report has been standard-

ised to have a value of $500m, which is close to the

current average value of the pipelines under regula-

tion.

To achieve consistency over time, the concept of a

standard $500m pipeline means that if two Access

Arrangements are assessed and approved within a

financial year for pipelines each valued at $250m,

then this would be reported as the equivalent of one

Access Arrangement having been approved for a

standard $500m pipeline.
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Quantity

The formal outputs of the agency are the number of

equivalent standard Access Arrangements approved

and the number of equivalent standard pipelines or

pipeline systems covered by the Code and over-

sighted by the Regulator during the financial year.

On 19 October 2001, the Regulator approved the

Access Arrangement for the Tubridgi Pipeline

System and progressed the assessment of the pro-

posed Access Arrangements for the DBNGP and 

the Goldfields Gas Pipeline, although progress in

respect of the latter two pipelines was constrained

by litigation.

It is estimated that an equivalent of 1.1 standard

Access Arrangements were approved during the

financial year.  The target for the year was 0.9 stan-

dard approvals.  As shown in the table, an equiva-

lent of 1.3 standard approvals were progressed dur-

ing the 2000/01 financial year where the target was

1.9.

In relation to the oversighting of gas pipelines, an

equivalent of 5.1 standard pipelines were oversight-

ed in the 2001/02 financial year and the target was

5.1.  The revocation of the Parmelia Pipeline from

coverage by the regulatory regime on 1 April 2002

did not have an appreciable effect in this year.

The actual and target number of equivalent stan-

dard pipelines oversighted during the 2000/01

financial year was also 5.1.
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Quantity 

 2001/02 2000/01 

No. of equivalent standard:  1 Target Actual Target Actual 

Access Arrangements approved 0.9 1.1 1.9 1.3 

Regulated pipelines oversighted 5.1 5.1 5.1 5.1 

1 A standard pipeline is defined as one having a capital base value of $500m. 



Quality 

Assessments have been made of perceptions of

quality of outputs through ‘satisfaction surveys’ of

persons registered as ‘interested parties’ with

OffGAR.  These interested parties are registered

with OffGAR to receive notices and other informa-

tion on gas access regulation matters on a regular

basis.

The survey undertaken for the 2001/02 reporting

period was similar to that for the 2000/01 period,

with the intent of enabling comparison of results 

across periods.  Both surveys were undertaken in

accordance with the guiding principles set out in the

document ‘Listen and Learn’ issued by the Office of

the Auditor General.

The survey of interested parties showed that 42 per

cent of respondents were satisfied or very satisfied

with the agency’s activities in “helping to secure

rights of access to natural gas pipelines”, compared

with 46 per cent last year.  

The decline in satisfaction levels appears to be

related to the time taken to approve Access

Arrangements, which in part appears to be a more

general problem of the national gas access regime.

The survey results show a generally good level of

satisfaction with OffGAR in respect of the provision

of adequate information (65 per cent) and quality

information (58 per cent) on gas access matters in

Western Australia.
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Quality 

 2001/02 
% 

2000/01 
% 

 Target Actual Target Actual 

Proportion of interested parties satisfied or very satisfied with the agency’s 
activities in “helping to secure rights of access to natural gas pipelines” 75 42 75 46 



Timeliness

The survey of interested parties indicated that the

proportion satisfied or very satisfied with the agency

responding to issues in a timely manner was 17 per

cent as compared to 15 per cent last year.  The

proportion of respondents that were dissatisfied or

very dissatisfied was 56 per cent.

The survey also indicated that the problem seems

to be a universal one for the National Gas Access

Regime more generally.  This is indicated by only

20 per cent of respondents indicating satisfaction

with the National Gas Access Regime making provi-

sion for issues to be addressed in a timely manner

and 58 per cent considering that it provides for this

poorly or very poorly.

The expressed concern over the timeliness of the

activities of OffGAR is a major concern, but there is

increasing evidence around Australia that regulating

access to infrastructure is much more difficult than

originally envisaged.  It is also apparent that it

would be inappropriate to issue decisions without

sufficient consideration and public consultation.  

This impacts on timeliness, posing a challenge to

regulators to balance requirements and responses

more effectively.
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Timeliness 

 2001/02 2000/01 

 Target Actual Target Actual 

Average time taken1 (months) 17 25 22 32 

Proportion of interested parties satisfied or very satisfied with the agency 
responding to issues in a timely manner in respect of Access Arrangements 
assessed and covered pipelines oversighted 

75% 17% 75% 15% 

1 Average estimated time until Access Arrangements are approved. 



Cost

Performance indicators showing the average cost

for assessing and oversighting pipelines are pre-

sented in the table below.

These costs are derived from the financial state-

ments presented in this report under the heading of

“total cost of services” measured on an accrual

basis.

These amounts do not, however, include the cost of

the legal action initiated by Epic Energy and the

owners of the GGP.  While such legal costs are part

of the assessment process, these are regarded as

a once-off item amounting to $671,301 for the year

ending 30 June 2002.
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Cost 

 2001/02 
$ 

2000/01 
$ 

Cost per equivalent standard pipeline: Target Actual Target Actual 

Assessed 553,000 366,000 476,000 539,000 

Oversighted 207,000 181,000 159,000 173,000 

Financial figures are presented on an accrual basis for the reporting period exclusive of GST for an equivalent standard $500m pipeline. 



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Statement of Certification

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are

based on proper records, are relevant and appropri-

ate for assisting users to assess the Western

Australian Independent Gas Pipelines Access

Regulator’s performance, and fairly represent the

performance of the Western Australian Independent

Gas Pipelines Access Regulator for the financial

year ended 30 June 2002.

DR KEN MICHAEL AM CitWA

ACTING INDEPENDENT GAS PIPELINES

ACCESS REGULATOR

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, OFFICE OF GAS

ACCESS REGULATION

30 August 2002
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AUDITOR GENERAL

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDEPENDENT GAS

PIPELINES ACCESS REGULATOR

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE YEAR

ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation

of the Audited Performance Indicators 

This audit opinion relates to the performance indica-

tors of the Western Australian Independent Gas

Pipelines Access Regulator for the year ended June

30, 2002 included on the Western Australian

Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator’s web

site. The Regulator is responsible for the integrity of

the Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines

Access Regulator’s web site. I have not been

engaged to report on the integrity of this web site.

The audit opinion refers only to the performance indi-

cators named below. It does not provide an opinion

on any other information which may have been

hyperlinked to or from these performance indicators.

If users of this opinion are concerned with the inher-

ent risks arising from electronic data communica-

tions, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the

audited performance indicators to confirm the infor-

mation included in the audited performance indica-

tors presented on this web site. 

Scope 

I have audited the key effectiveness and efficiency

performance indicators of the Western Australian

Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator for the

year ended June 30, 2002 under the provisions of

the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

The Regulator is responsible for developing and

maintaining proper records and systems for prepar-

ing and presenting performance indicators. I have

conducted an audit of the key performance indicators

in order to express an opinion on them to the

Parliament as required by the Act. No opinion is

expressed on the output measures of quantity, qual-

ity, timeliness and cost. 

My audit was performed in accordance with section

79 of the Act to form an opinion based on a reason-

able level of assurance. The audit procedures includ-

ed examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting

the amounts and other disclosures in the perform-

ance indicators, and assessing the relevance and

appropriateness of the performance indicators in

assisting users to assess the Regulator’s perform-

ance. These procedures have been undertaken to

form an opinion as to whether, in all material

respects, the performance indicators are relevant

and appropriate having regard to their purpose and

fairly represent the indicated performance. 

The audit opinion expressed below has been formed

on the above basis. 
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Audit Opinion 

In my opinion, the key effectiveness and efficiency

performance indicators of the Western Australian

Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator are

relevant and appropriate for assisting users to

assess the Regulator’s performance and fairly repre-

sent the indicated performance for the year ended

June 30, 2002. 

D D R PEARSON 

AUDITOR GENERAL

November 15, 2002

4th Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West

Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500

Fax: 08 9322 5664 
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Key Performance Indicators for 2001/02

The Regulator’s key performance indicators derive

from objectives set by the enabling legislation, the

Gas Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act 1998.

The Preamble to this legislation states:

“The Commonwealth, the States of New South

Wales, Victoria, Queensland, South Australia,

Western Australia and Tasmania, the Northern

Territory and the Australian Capital Territory agreed

in November 1997 to the enactment of legislation in

the Commonwealth and those States and Territories

so that a uniform national framework applies for

third party access to all gas pipelines that —

(a) facilitates the development and operation of 

a national market for natural gas; and

(b) prevents abuse of monopoly power; and

(c) promotes a competitive market for natural gas 

in which customers may choose suppliers, 

including producers, retailers and traders; and

d) provides rights of access to natural gas 

pipelines on conditions that are fair and reason

able for the owners and operators of gas trans

mission and distribution pipelines and persons 

wishing to use the services of those pipelines; 

and

(e) provides for resolution of disputes.”

While these objectives are set at a national level,

gas pipelines in Western Australia do not currently

extend beyond this State.

The desired outcomes for the Regulator and the

Office of Gas Access Regulation (O ffGAR) were

determined to be as follows:

• to facilitate a national market for natural gas,

• to prevent abuse of monopoly power,

• to promote competition, and

• to provide rights of access to natural gas 

pipelines.
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Effectiveness

The effectiveness indicators for each of the

Regulator’s outputs are indicated by the percentage

of interested parties that consider the Regulator and

OffGAR has helped to:

• promote national consistency in gas access reg-

ulation,

• prevent abuse of monopoly power,

• promote competition, and

• provide rights of access to natural gas pipelines.

For the purposes of determining the effectiveness

of the Regulator and OffGAR in achieving the

desired outcomes, a survey was undertaken sam-

pling a representative number of interested parties

on the regulatory process.  Details of this survey

are provided under the heading of “Satisfaction

Survey” below.
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Effectiveness 

Desired outcome Satisfied or very satisfied that OffGAR has helped to: 2001/02 
% 

2000/01 
% 

To facilitate a national market for natural gas Promote national consistency in gas access regulation 38 28 

To prevent abuse of monopoly power Prevent abuse of monopoly power 49 52 

To promote competition Promote competition 38 38 

To provide rights of access to natural gas pipelines Provide rights of access to natural gas pipelines 42 46 

 



The following table provides additional information

on responses to the survey instrument. 
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Effectiveness Indicator No. of 
Respondents 

Response  
Rate 

% 

Standard Error 
Rate 

% 

To facilitate a national market for natural gas 42 78 5.9 

To prevent abuse of monopoly power 47 87 3.5 

To promote competition 47 87 3.5 

To provide rights of access to natural gas pipelines 48 89 3.0 

 



Efficiency

The efficiency indicators for approving Access

Arrangements are the cost and time taken.

The concept of equivalent units of output is used,

recognising that the approval of Access

Arrangements involves many months of work with

the result that an appreciable amount of partly com-

pleted work may remain at the end of a reporting

period.  Equivalent units of output are a measure of

both completed and partly completed work in terms

of fully completed work.

The equivalent units of output concept is also

appropriate in the case of the Regulator’s second

output, which is the number of regulated pipelines

oversighted.  A regulated pipeline is defined as one

that is ‘covered’ by the National Gas Access Code.

On recommendation of the National Competition

Council, the Treasurer decides on whether a

pipeline should be covered or not.  The use of

equivalent units of measurement in the case of out-

put 2 recognises that pipelines may be covered for

part of the year only.

The concept of a standard pipeline is used recog-

nising that the size, value and complexity of

pipelines varies considerably.  For example, the

demands placed on the Regulator by several small-

er pipelines in one year may be equivalent to those

of a single larger pipeline in another year.  To

ensure that the units of measurement are reason-

ably consistent from one year to the next, a stan-

dard pipeline has been defined as one having a

capital base value of $500m.  The value of $500m

is close to the current average value of the

pipelines under regulation.

As the methodology used to calculate the indicators

in terms of equivalent standard pipelines has been

modified in the reporting year, the same methodolo-

gy has been applied to earlier years for consistency

reasons.

While the capital base value of a pipeline is an indi-

cator of the likely demands that will be placed on

the Regulator by that pipeline, it is important to

recognise that the relationship between value and

the demands placed on the Regulator will not be

linear.  Precisely the same issue arises in relation to

the Regulator’s recovery of core function costs (e.g.

overheads of maintaining the Office) from providers

of regulated pipeline services.  In that case, a non-

linear relationship has been established between

the capital base value and the amount to be recov-

ered from each provider of regulated pipeline serv-

ices that takes into account, as much as reasonably

possible, the level of service expected to be provid -

ed to each regulated pipeline.  This non-linear rela-

tionship is used to determine the proportion of core

function costs to be contributed by each provider of

regulated pipeline services.  The resulting propor-

tions are prescribed for each provider in the Gas

Pipelines Access (Western Australia) (Funding)

Regulations 1999.
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The actual proportions given in the Funding

Regulations are set out in the following table.
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Pipeline Operator                % 

AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd 20.31 

CMS Gas Transmission of Australia  5.35 

Epic Energy (WA) Transmission Pty Ltd 49.00 

Goldfields Gas Transmission 18.12 

Sagasco SE Inc. 3.91 

Southern Cross Pipelines Pty Ltd 3.31 



The proportions set out in the above table have

been used to weight each regulated pipeline for the

purposes of measuring it in terms of a standard

$500m pipeline.

The efficiency indicator for output 2 is the cost per

equivalent covered pipeline oversighted.
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Efficiency 

Output Performance Indicator 2001/02 
Value 

2001/02 
Value 

1. Approved Access Arrangements Cost per equivalent standard Access Arrangement approved $366,000 $539,000 

 Time per equivalent standard Access Arrangement approved (months) 251 32 

2. Oversight of gas pipelines 
Cost per equivalent standard regulated gas pipeline oversighted $181,0002 $173,000 

1. Average estimated time until Access Arrangements are finally approved. 

2. Cost per regulated pipeline oversighted has increased primarily due to a greater proportion of the cost being attributable to the oversighting role. 



SATISFACTION SURVEY

Each year a satisfaction survey is undertaken of

parties that have an interest in gas access regula-

tion in Western Australia.  These parties are regis-

tered with OffGAR to receive notices and other

information on gas access regulation matters on a

regular basis.

The aim of the survey is to provide performance

indicators for annual reporting purposes and to

obtain industry feedback on OffGAR’s efficiency

and effectiveness on whether it:

• promotes national consistency in gas access reg-

ulation,

• prevents abuse of monopoly power,

• promotes competition in the gas industry,

• helps to secure rights of access to natural gas 

pipelines,

• responds to issues in a timely manner,

• addresses issues in an effective manner,

• provides adequate information on gas access 

matters in WA, and

• provides quality information on gas access mat-

ters in WA.

Respondents were asked the following questions in

relation to each of the above:

(a)  How important is this to your company?

(b)  How well do you think the National Gas Access

Regime provides for this?

(c)  How satisfied are you with OffGAR’s perform-  

ance in this?

The survey is undertaken by a market research firm

experienced in conducting surveys of this type.  The

use of an independent market research firm

ensures anonymity for respondents.

The survey population of interested parties compris-

es gas pipeline service providers, gas pipeline

users and others that have an interest in the regula-

tion of access to gas pipelines.

An interested party is generally a company having

several representatives registered with OffGAR.

The total population of interested parties was 84

consisting of 174 contact names.  The survey

sought a response from one representative of each

company registered with OffGAR.  Of the 84 inter-

ested parties, 12 were found to be out of scope no

longer qualifying as interested parties.  Of the

remaining 72 within scope, 54 responded giving a

response rate of 75 per cent.

The key finding was that interested parties were

generally dissatisfied with OffGAR’s performance in

addressing issues in a timely manner.  However,

this finding reflected attitudes toward the National

Gas Access Regime and not OffGAR’s performance

alone.  Further details are provided in the table and

charts below.
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Responses to Survey of Interested Parties 

 This is important  or 
very important 

This is provided for or 
well provided for by the 

National Gas Access 
Regime 

Satisfied or very 
satisfied with 

OffGAR’s performance 

Satisfied or very 
satisfied with OffGAR’s 

performance 

Criterion: 2001/02 
% 

2001/02 
% 

2001/02 
% 

2000/01 
% 

Promoting national consistency in gas 
access regulation 

69 36 37 28 

Preventing abuse of monopoly power 76 52 49 52 

Promoting competition in the gas industry 91 44 38 38 

Helping to secure rights of access to natural 
gas pipelines 

82 56 42 46 

Addressing issues in a timely manner 87 20 17 15 

Addressing issues in an effective manner 96 24 31 47 

Providing adequate information on gas 
access matters in WA 

82 47 65 78 

Providing quality information on gas access 
matters in WA 

89 40 58 81 
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Percent Satisfied or Very  Satisfied with OffGAR

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Consistency in regulation

Prevent abuse of monopoly 

Promote competition

Rights of access to pipelines

Address issues in a timely manner

Address issues in an effective manner

Provide adequate information

Provide quality information

Satisfied Neutral Not Satisfied
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Percent Satisfied or Very  Satisfied with OffGAR
Classified by Type of Respondent

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Consistency in regulation

Prevent abuse of monopoly 

Promote competition

Rights of access to pipelines

Address issues in a timely manner

Address issues in an effective manner

Provide adequate information

Provide quality information

Owner User Other
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Percent Satisfied or Very  Satisfied with OffGAR 
Comparison with National Gas Access Regime

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Consistency in regulation

Prevent abuse of monopoly 

Promote competition

Rights of access to pipelines

Address issues in a timely manner

Address issues in an effective manner

Provide adequate information

Provide quality information

OffGAR National Gas Access Regime
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Percent Satisfied or Very Satisfied with OffGAR
Three Year Comparison

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Consistency in regulation

Prevent abuse of monopoly 

Promote competition

Rights of access to pipelines

Address issues in a timely manner

Address issues in an effective manner

Provide adequate information

Provide quality information
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ENABLING LEGISLATION

The office of the Western Australian Independent

Gas Pipelines Access Regulator is established

under Section 27 of the Gas Pipelines Access

(Western Australia) Act 1998.  The Regulator is

appointed by the Governor and the position is not

an office of the public service.

Section 42 of the Act requires public service officers

to be appointed or made available to enable the

Regulator to perform his or her functions.  The

Office of Gas Access Regulation was established

under the Public Sector Management Act 1994 for

this purpose.  Through Section 27(4) of the Gas

Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act 1998 , the

Regulator is the chief employee of this public sector

entity, having similar functions to those of a Chief

Executive Officer.

Section 37 of the Act specifies that the Regulator is

independent of direction or control by the Crown or

any Minister or officer of the Crown in the perform-

ance of the Regulator’s functions.  The Minister can

only direct the Regulator in respect of general poli-

cies to be followed by the Regulator in matters of

administration, including financial administration,

and may not constrain the Regulator with respect to

the performance of the Regulator’s functions.

The Act makes the Gas Pipelines Access Law

(included as Schedules 1 and 2 of the Act) a law of

Western Australia.  The Gas Pipelines Access Law

is the uniform legislation enacted by Australian gov-

ernments for the regulation of access to gas

pipelines and includes the National Third Party

Access Code for Natural Gas Pipeline Systems (the

Code).  The Code establishes the regulatory regime

and specifies many of the functions of the

Regulator.

The Gas Pipelines Access (Western Australia)

(Funding) Regulations 1999 , gazetted in January

2000 under the Gas Pipelines Access (Western

Australia) Act 1998, provide for costs incurred in

connection with the performance of the functions of

the Regulator to be recovered from pipeline opera-

tors.  The regulations set out the methodology for 

determination of the amounts payable by operators

of covered pipelines to which the activities of the

Regulator relate.

Responsible Minister

The Minister responsible for the administration of

the Gas Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act

1998 is the Hon. Eric Ripper MLA, Treasurer.

The Regulator

The office of the Western Australian Independent

Gas Pipelines Access Regulator (the Regulator) is

held by Dr Ken Michael AM CitWA in an acting

capacity.  Dr Michael was appointed to the position

in June 1999 for a period of three years.  As Dr

Michael’s appointment expired in June 2002, he

was reappointed in an acting capacity.  The position

is to be re-advertised in accordance with legislative

requirements.
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ORGANISATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

The office of the Regulator was established in

February 1999 together with the Office of Gas

Access Regulation (OffGAR).

OffGAR is a small public sector agency that pro-

vides secretarial and administrative services to the

Regulator and operates under the Regulator’s

budget.

OffGAR also provides secretariat support to the

Gas Disputes Arbitrator whose position is also

established by the Gas Pipelines Access (Western

Australia) Act 1998.  The Executive Director of

OffGAR is delegated to the position of Registrar of

the Western Australian Gas Review Board.  Should

a conflict of interest arise in the Executive Director

providing support to the Arbitrator or the Gas

Review Board, then support may be arranged from

elsewhere.

OffGAR staff are the initial point of contact in day-

to-day dealings on matters concerning the Gas

Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act 1998 and

the Code.  While OffGAR staff may provide advice

or other assistance in relation to these matters, it is

the Regulator and not OffGAR that is responsible

for the making of decisions on regulatory matters.

While the Regulator and Arbitrator are entitled to

the assistance of OffGAR staff to enable them to

perform their respective functions, the Regulator

and Arbitrator may obtain professional, technical or

other assistance from other sources.

The organisational structure as at 30 June 2002 is

shown below.

CORPORATE EXECUTIVE

The corporate executive of OffGAR comprises the

Regulator, in the position of Chief Executive Officer

of OffGAR, and the Executive Director.
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Organisational Structure at
30 June 2002
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Pipelines Access

Regulator

Dr Ken Michael

Gas Disputes
Arbitrator

Mr Laurie James

Gas
Review
Board

Executive
Director

Mr K Peter Kolf

Senior
Business
Analyst

Mr Michael
Jansen

Senior
Business
Analyst

Mr Robert Pullella

Principal
Research
Analyst

Vacant

Executive
Officer

Ms Pamela
Herbener

Personal
Assistant

Mrs Lucia
D'Souza

Receptionist

Ms Kathy Jones



Senior Officers

Dr Ken Michael AM CitWA, Acting Western

Australian Independent Gas Pipelines Access

Regulator and Chief Executive Officer of OffGAR.

Dr Michael has a Bachelor of Engineering degree

with first class honours from the University of

Western Australia and has a Doctor of Philosophy

from the University of London.  Dr Michael is

Chancellor of the University of Western Australia

and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the

Western Australian Museum.  He is a former

Commissioner of Main Roads Western Australia

and concurrently served as Public Service

Commissioner in 1993/94.  He is also a former

Chairman of Commissioners of the City of Albany.

Dr Michael was appointed to the position of

Regulator for a period of three years on 1 June

1999, after having acted in the position since

February 1999.  As Dr Michael’s three-year term as

Regulator expired on 1 June 2002 and the legisla-

tion requires the position to be re-advertised, Dr

Michael has been reappointed in an acting capacity.

Mr K Peter Kolf, Executive Director, OffGAR.

Mr Kolf has a Master of Economics degree from

Adelaide University and a Bachelor of Commerce

degree with honours from the University of

Melbourne.  His career includes the positions of

Senior Manager with the Western Australian Office

of Energy; Director, Air Fare Economics with the

Independent Air Fares Committee (responsible for

regulating air fares under the two airlines policy);

and Manager, Pricing Policy, Telecom HQ Australia.

Mr Kolf was appointed to the position of Executive

Director in June 1999, after having acted in the

position since February 1999.

Staff Profile

The permanent staffing structure of OffGAR is indi-

cated in the table below.  The staffing structure was

changed in 2001/02, as follows.

• An additional level 6 “Principal Research Analyst”

position was created in place of a temporary 

position existing since the agency was estab-

lished in 1999.

• The level 2 position that was initially filled on a 

contract basis was advertised and filled on a per-

manent basis.

• An unfilled level 3 position existing in 2000/01 

was abolished.

• One level 6 contract position and one part-time 

level 6 contract position were filled to provide 

project assistance during the year.
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Staff Structure 

OffGAR Workplace Agreement 
Classification 

No. of Employees 
30 June 2002 

No. of Employees 
30 June 2001 

Permanent Positions   

Level 9 1 1 

Level 6 2 2 

Level 4 1 1 

Level 3 Abolished Vacant 

Level 2 1 Vacant 

Level 1 1 1 

Total 6 5 



OffGAR PERSONNEL

(from left to right, standing) Lucia D’Souza, Mike Jansen, Nick Parkhurst, Peter Hanlon, Ursula Kretzer, Michael Soltyk, Robert Pullella, Pam Herbener,

(seated), Kathy Jones, Peter Kolf, Dr Ken Michael.
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Staffing Policies

With the exception of the Regulator, all permanent

and contract staff are employed under the provi-

sions of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

The OffGAR Workplace Agreement and

Government Officers Salaries, Allowances and

Conditions General Agreement prescribed the con-

ditions of employment for all staff during the year.

The Workplace Agreement was registered in

February 2000 for a period of two years.  The

agreement remains in place by mutual consent

pending the abolition of the Workplace Agreement

Act 1993 when all staff will transfer to the

Government Officers Salaries, Allowances and

Conditions General Agreement.

All staff recruitment is performed in accordance with

the public sector standards in human resource

management and the approved procedures under

the Public Sector Management Act 1994 .

Human Resource Policies

Human resource services are provided to OffGAR

by the Office of Energy in accordance with the poli-

cies of the Office of Energy.

By virtue of the technically complex and specialised

tasks that must be undertaken in performing the

functions of the Regulator, the Office of Gas Access

Regulation employs relatively few permanent staff

and has, in the past, relied on the use of specialist

consultants and contract staff to provide necessary

expertise on an ‘as needed’ basis.

Workers’ Compensation

There were no claims for workers’ compensation

during 2001/02.

Corporate Services

The Gas Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act

1998 provides for the Regulator to enter into

arrangements with public sector agencies to make

use of their employees or the facilities of the

agency.  OffGAR has a Service Level Agreement

with the Office of Energy for the provision of corpo-

rate services including financial services, adminis-

trative services, human resource management and

advice on information systems and information

management.  The agreement with the Office of

Energy expired in May 2001 and is now extended

on a month-by-month basis while the arrangements

for the new Economic Regulation Authority are

being established.

Accounting Systems Development

As a result of the arrangements for funding of activi-

ties through charges to operators of covered

pipelines, the Regulator and OffGAR have a

requirement for accounting systems that can store

financial information and produce financial reports

on a project basis.

Accounting services are provided to OffGAR by the

Office of Energy.  In 2001/02, further development

of accounting systems was undertaken to meet the

specific requirements of OffGAR.

Complaints Handling

There are three main areas that may be the source

of complaints in the case of the Regulator and the

Office of Gas Access Regulation.  These are the

administration of the Office, employment related

matters and matters concerning the regulatory func-

tions of the Regulator.
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Handling of complaints relating to administration of

the Office and employment-related matters are

dealt with under the Office of Gas Access

Regulation Code of Conduct.  The Code of

Conduct, which is available in both hard copy form

at reception and on the OffGAR web site, advises

that anyone having a serious concern about the

actions of any OffGAR member in relation to their

observance of the Code of Conduct contact the

Executive Director or the Chief Executive Officer of

OffGAR.

Staff and consultants to OffGAR are also provided

supporting documentation to the Code of Conduct

that sets out relevant policies in some detail, includ-

ing the handling of complaints on administrative and

employment matters.

There were no formal complaints lodged on admin-

istrative or employment-related matters during the

reporting period.

On matters relating to the functions of the

Regulator, which involve the Regulator in having to

balance the competing interests of pipeline owners,

users, prospective users of pipelines and other

interested parties such as users and producers of

gas, a variety of circumstances can give rise to

complaints.  Complaints relating to regulatory mat-

ters are handled through comprehensive public

consultation involving submissions, public forums,

specific purpose conferences with the Regulator

and meetings with OffGAR.  Submissions may be

made on either a public or confidential basis.  All

public submissions are published on the OffGAR

web site.

INDEX BACK NEXT

58 Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator Annual Report 2002 

GOVERNANCE



EXPENDITURE

Incurring of Expenditure

Subsection 47(3) of the Gas Pipelines Access

(Western Australia) Act 1998 provides that, while

subsection 42(1) of the Financial Administration and

Audit Act 1985 does not apply in respect of the

Regulator, the expenditure that may be incurred by

the Regulator in any one financial year is limited to

the amount specified by the Minister.

The table showing incurred expenditure indicates

the amount specified by the Treasurer that could be

incurred during 2001/02 as compared with the

amount that was actually incurred.
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Incurred Expenditure 
for the year ended 30 June 2002 

 
Specified by 

Treasurer Actual  Change 

 $ $ % 

Total Staff Costs  709,500 683,478 -3.7 

Office 
Accommodation 66,000 144,0852 118.3 

Consultants 
Administration and 
Regulatory 

40,000 75,235 88.1 

Other Administration 
Expenses 413,500 355,753 -14.0 

Total Ongoing Costs 1,229,000 1,258,551 2.4 

Expert Advice 300,000 222,525 -25.8 

Total Expenditure 1,529,000 1,481,076 -3.1 

Legal Costs Epic 
Energy and GGT 650,0001 675,983  

Total Including 
Extraordinary 2,179,000 2,157,059 -1.0 

1 Approved 1 February 2002 

2 Includes 10 months prepayment for 2002/03 and a 45% 
increase in rental charges 



Expenditure on Consultants

Section 43 of the Gas Pipelines Access (Western

Australia) Act 1998 provides for the Regulator to

engage consultants.

A panel of 26 consultants was established by com-

petitive tender in 1999 for a term initially expiring on

31 December 2000.  In accordance with the terms

and conditions of the panel contract, the term of the

panel was extended to 31 July 2001.

Tenders were called in June 2001 for a new panel

contract to commence on 1 August 2001 for a peri-

od of up to two years.  The Department of Contract

and Management Services was engaged to provide

assistance with the tender process.

Work areas in which consultancies have been com-

missioned include:

• analysis and assistance in the preparation of reg-

ulatory decisions;

• expert legal, regulatory, financial, economic and 

technical advice on the assessment of proposed 

Access Arrangements;

• expert legal and regulatory advice in relation to 

legal action brought against the Regulator;

• expert regulatory, financial and economic advice 

on specific regulatory studies;

• internal audit, risk management and accounting 

systems development; and

• human resource and other specialised adminis-

trative assistance and advice.

Expenditure on consultancies during 2001/02 is

summarised in the table below.  This expenditure

includes once-off costs incurred as a result of the

legal action by Epic Energy and the owners of the

Goldfields Gas Pipeline.
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Value of 
Consultancy 

Up to $50,000 

Over $50,000 

TOTAL 

No. of 
Consultancies  
Commissioned 

121 

6 

127 

Expenditure in  
2001/02 

$526,991 

$537,444 

$1,064,435 

Expenditure On Consultants
for the year ended 30 June 2002



FUNDING AND PRICING POLICIES

The activities of the Regulator, including the activi-

ties of OffGAR, are funded by fees and charges

payable by the operators of covered pipelines and

by other persons in accordance with the provisions 

of the Gas Pipelines Access (Western Australia)

(Funding) Regulations 1999 (gazetted 14 January

2000).

Payments to the Regulator by operators of covered

pipelines comprise standing charges and service

charges, determined in accordance with regulations 

3 and 5, respectively, of the Gas Pipelines Access

(Western Australia) (Funding) Regulations 1999.

Standing charges comprise charges levied on

pipeline operators in respect of costs incurred by

the Regulator and OffGAR that are not directly

attributable to activities in respect of particular

pipeline systems.  
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Charges Paid By Pipeline Owners 
For The Year Ended 30 June 2002 

     Service Provider Standing Charges Service Charges 
Service Charges levied  

but not yet paid 

AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd $233,306 $27,545 $1,500 

CMS Gas Transmission of Australia $61,458 $1,550  

Epic Energy (WA) Transmission Pty Ltd $562,874 $127,923  $676,950 

Goldfields Gas Transmission $208,149  $60,399  $87,084 

Sagasco SE Inc. $44,915  $24,543   

Southern Cross Pipelines Pty Ltd $38,023   $1,915 

TOTAL $1,148,725  $241,960 $767,449 



The pipeline operators that are liable for standing

charges and the percentage allocations of costs

between these pipeline operators are set out in

Schedule 1 of the Gas Pipelines Access (Western

Australia) (Funding) Regulations 1999.

The service charges payable by pipeline operators

comprise charges levied in respect of the perform-

ance by the Regulator or OffGAR of certain func-

tions listed in Schedule 2 of the Gas Pipelines

Access (Western Australia) (Funding) Regulations

1999.

The total amounts of standing charges and service

charges paid by pipeline operators in the year end-

ing 30 June 2002 are indicated in the table above.

Standing Charges and Service Charges are

assessed in arrears for each pipeline operator.  In

accordance with Regulation 4 of the Gas Pipelines

Access (Western Australia) (Funding) Regulations

1999, standing charges are assessed at the end of

each calendar quarter.  In accordance with

Regulation 5 of the Funding Regulations, service 

charges are raised when expenditure has been

incurred by the Regulator and are issued on a

monthly basis.

The Gas Pipelines Access (Western Australia)

(Funding) Regulations 1999 also provide for the

Regulator to levy fees in respect of:

• provision of documents prepared by or on behalf 

of the Regulator;

• admission to a meeting held by the Regulator for

the purposes of public consultation; 

• lodgement of notifications of a dispute under sec

tion 6.1 of the Code; and

• interest on any outstanding amounts.

Document fees received in 2001/02 amounted to

$75.

Interest charges raised in 2001/02 amounted to

$15,520.

A Treasurer’s advance of $650,000 was made to

OffGAR on 11 February 2002 to fund the costs of

legal action brought against the Regulator by Epic

Energy.  While the funding regulations provide for

the recovery of all of the Regulator’s expenditure

from pipeline service providers, both Epic Energy

and Goldfields Gas Transmission dispute the

Regulator’s ability to recover the legal costs as a

service charge from the parties initiating the legal

action.  The matter of recovery of these costs is

under consideration by the Regulator.

Web Site

OffGAR continued to update its web site: 

(www.offgar.wa.gov.au) during the year to ensure

public accessibility to current information on the

State’s gas pipelines access regulatory process.

The web site can be used to access information on

the regulatory regime, and on the operations and

activities of the Regulator and OffGAR.  All notices

issued by the Regulator are placed on the site.

Documents such as proposed Access

Arrangements, issues papers, public submissions,

draft decisions, final decisions and approvals can

be downloaded from the site.
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Information received by the Regulator in submis-

sions relating to regulatory decisions is made public

unless it is designated as confidential.  No docu-

ment received is made available to any person

other than to OffGAR staff and authorised consult-

ants unless it is made publicly available or the

provider of confidential information has given

express permission for its release.

The web site was used extensively during the year.

The measure of web usage has been refined to bet-

ter reflect activity on the site.  The number of times

that Internet visitors requested a new screen or

page has averaged around 7,100 per month over

the reporting period.  The busiest month was

August 2001 with 12,900 such requests.

Internal Audit

An internal audit of OffGAR was undertaken in

accordance with requirements of section 55(f) of the

Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 and rel-

evant Treasurer’s Instructions.

The auditors concluded that OffGAR is operating in

an effective and efficient manner and sound con-

trols were identified within the areas of revenue and

expenditure.  Findings from all audit reviews, includ-

ing those from previous years, have been

addressed.

Accounting Manual

As recommended by the internal auditors a compre-

hensive review of the accounting manual was

undertaken.  The new manual was tested as part of

the internal audit, found to be satisfactory, approved

by the Chief Executive Officer and adopted by

OffGAR.

Code of Conduct

All OffGAR employees and consultants to OffGAR

are bound by the Western Australian Public Sector

Code of Ethics.

OffGAR has established a Code of Conduct that

applies to all employees.  The Code of Conduct

provides for the ethical principles of justice, respect

for persons and responsible care, and affirms that

OffGAR believes and upholds the values of team-

work, leadership, research and development, and

encouragement.

A copy of the Code of Conduct can be accessed

from the Publications Section of the OffGAR web

site at: www.offgar.wa.gov.au.

Following a review of public sector standards within

OffGAR, the Commissioner of Public Sector

Standards recommended that a further supporting

document be prepared expanding on OffGAR’s

Code of Conduct.  The purpose of this supporting

document would be to relate more clearly the broad

principles and values presented in the Code to

everyday behaviour of executive staff, other

employees and consultants.

The supporting document was completed by the

end of the financial year and has since been

approved by the Chief Executive Officer.  The docu-

ment will be updated on an on-going basis.
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Review of Risk Management Policy

OffGAR developed a risk management policy in

1999/2000.  This policy was reviewed in 2000/01

and again in 2001/02 to increase the awareness of

and focus on the risks facing the agency.  The revi-

sion of the risk management policy included exten-

sive consultation with staff to ensure that the risks

facing the agency are understood and properly

managed.  The revised risk management policy

was completed by the end of the financial year and

has since been approved by the Chief Executive

Officer.

Impacting Legislation

The following written laws impact on the Regulator

as chief employee of the Office of Gas Access

Regulation:

Anti-Corruption Commission Act 1988

Disability Services Act 1993

Electoral Act 1907

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985

Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972

Public Sector Management Act 1994

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

Superannuation and Family Benefits Act 1938

Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981

Workplace Agreement Act 1993 .

The Freedom of Information Act 1992 impacts on

the Regulator only in relation to administrative func-

tions.
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COMPLIANCE

Statement of Compliance

Compliance with Public Sector Management Act

Section 31(1) for the Year ended 30 June 2002

In the administration of the Office of Gas Access

Regulation, I have complied with the Public Sector

Standards in Human Resource Management, the

Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics

and the Office of Gas Access Regulation Code of

Conduct.

Procedures are in place designed to ensure ongo-

ing compliance and appropriate internal assess-

ments have been made.

No Applications for Breach of Standards were made

during the year.

DR KEN MICHAEL AM CitWA

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OFFICE OF GAS ACCESS REGULATION

30 August 2002
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Shares in Subsidiary Bodies

Treasurer’s Instruction 903 requires inclusion in the

report on operations, details of shares in any sub-

sidiary body of the agency held as a nominee or

held beneficially by a Senior Officer of the agency.

There are no such shares.

Interest in Existing or Proposed Contracts

Treasurer’s Instruction 903 requires inclusion in the

report on operations particulars of any interest in

any existing or proposed contract which a Senior 

Officer, or a firm of which a Senior Officer is a mem-

ber, or an entity in which a Senior Officer has a

substantial financial interest, has made with the

agency or any related or affiliated body.  There are

no such interests.

Electoral Act Disclosure Requirements

Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 requires

public agencies to include a statement in their

Annual Reports detailing all the expenditure

incurred by or on behalf of the public agencies dur-

ing the reporting period in relation to advertising

agencies, market research organisations, polling

organisations, direct mail organisations and media

advertising agencies.

Expenditure was incurred by OffGAR during the

period 1 July 2001 to 30 June 2002 as shown in the

following table.
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Electoral Act Disclosure Requirements 
for the year ended 30 June 2002  

Advertising Agencies nil 

Market Research Organisations  

Data Analysis Australia $2,305 

Polling Organisations nil 

Direct Mail Organisations nil 

Media Advertising Organisations  

Marketforce Productions $6,702 

Note: Amounts shown include GST 



Directions Given

Section 37(2) of the Gas Pipelines Access (Western

Australia) Act 1998 provides for the Minister to give

directions in writing to the Regulator in relation to

general policies to be followed by the Regulator in

matters of administration, including financial admin-

istration.  The text of any such direction is required

to be included in the Regulator’s Annual Report.

No directions under Section 37(2) of the Gas

Pipelines Access (Western Australia) Act 1998 were

given to the Regulator during the year.

PUBLICATIONS

The following publications were issued by the Office

of Gas Access Regulation for the Regulator during

the 2001/02 year:

Annual Report 2000/01.

Decision on the proposed promotions contract 

between AlintaGas Networks Pty Ltd and 

AlintaGas Sales Pty Ltd.

Final decision and Approval: Access 

Arrangement - Tubridgi Pipeline System.

All publications have been placed on OffGAR’s web

site and are available for downloading.

BOARDS AND COMMITTEES

The Regulator is a member of the National Gas

Pipelines Advisory Committee (NGPAC).

The Executive Director, OffGAR, is a member of

NGPAC’s Working Group.
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Statement of Certification

The accompanying financial statements of the

Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines

Access Regulator have been prepared in compli-

ance with the provisions of the Financial

Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper

accounts and records to present fairly the financial

transactions for the financial year ending 30 June

2002 and the financial position as at 30 June 2002.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any cir-

cumstances which would render any particulars

included in the financial statements misleading or

inaccurate.

DR KEN MICHAEL AM CitWA

ACTING WA INDEPENDENT GAS ACCESS 

REGULATOR

30 August 2002

GEOFF GILBERT

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER

30 August 2002

INDEX BACK NEXT

68 Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator Annual Report 2002 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES



AUDITOR GENERAL

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDEPENDENT GAS 

PIPELINES ACCESS REGULATOR 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR

ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation

of the Audited Financial Statements 

This audit opinion relates to the financial statements

of the Western Australian Independent Gas

Pipelines Access Regulator for the year ended June

30, 2002 included on the Western Australian

Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator’s web

site. The Regulator is responsible for the integrity of

the Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines

Access Regulator’s web site. I have not been

engaged to report on the integrity of this web site.

The audit opinion refers only to the statements

named below. It does not provide an opinion on any

other information which may have been hyperlinked

to or from these statements. If users of this opinion

are concerned with the inherent risks arising from

electronic data communications, they are advised to

refer to the hard copy of the audited financial state-

ments to confirm the information included in the

audited financial statements presented on this web

site. 

Scope 

I have audited the accounts and financial state-

ments of the Western Australian Independent Gas

Pipelines Access Regulator for the year ended June

30, 2002 under the provisions of the Financial

Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

The Regulator is responsible for keeping proper

accounts and maintaining adequate systems of

internal control, preparing and presenting the finan-

cial statements, and complying with the Act and

other relevant written law. The primary responsibility

for the detection, investigation and prevention of

irregularities rests with the Regulator. 

My audit was performed in accordance with section

79 of the Act to form an opinion based on a reason-

able level of assurance. The audit procedures

included examining, on a test basis, the controls

exercised by the Regulator to ensure financial regu-

larity in accordance with legislative provisions, evi-

dence to provide reasonable assurance that the

amounts and other disclosures in the financial

statements are free of material misstatement and

the evaluation of accounting policies and significant

accounting estimates. These procedures have been

undertaken to form an opinion as to whether, in all

material respects, the financial statements are pre-

sented fairly in accordance with Accounting

Standards and other mandatory professional report-

ing requirements in Australia and the Treasurer’s

Instructions so as to present a view which is consis-

tent with my understanding of the Regulator’s finan-

cial position, its financial performance and its cash

flows. 

The audit opinion expressed below has been

formed on the above basis. 

INDEX BACK NEXT

69 Western Australian Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator Annual Report 2002 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES



Audit Opinion 

In my opinion, 

(i) the controls exercised by the Western Australian

Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator pro-

vide reasonable assurance that the receipt and

expenditure of moneys and the acquisition and dis-

posal of property and the incurring of liabilities have

been in accordance with legislative provisions; and 

(ii) the Statement of Financial Performance,

Statement of Financial Position and Statement of

Cash Flows and the Notes to the financial state-

ments are based on proper accounts and present

fairly in accordance with applicable Accounting

Standards and other mandatory professional report-

ing requirements in Australia and the Treasurer’s

Instructions, the financial position of the Regulator

at June 30, 2002 and its financial performance and

its cash flows for the year then ended. 

D D R PEARSON 

AUDITOR GENERAL

November 15, 2002 

4th Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West

Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500

Fax: 08 9322 5664 
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Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 30 June 2002  
   

   Note 2001/02 2000/01 
    $'000 $'000 

 COST OF SERVICES  
 Expenses from ordinary activities 

Employee Expenses  2 714 640 
Supplies and Services  3 323 516 
Depreciation Expense  4 38 33 
Administration Expenses  5 860 344 
Accommodation Expenses  6 62 63 
Total cost of services   1,997 1,596 
Revenues from ordinary activities 
User Charges and Fees  7 1,966 1,740 
Other Revenues from Ordinary Activities  8 51 40 
Total revenues from ordinary activities   2,017 1,780 
 
NET COST OF SERVICES  21(b) (20) (184) 
 
REVENUES FROM GOVERNMENT  
Liabilities Assumed by Other Agencies  9 0 1,515 
Liabilities Assumed by the Treasurer  10 0 39 
Resources Received Free of Charge  11 15 32 
Total revenues from Government   15 1,586 
 
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS   35 1,770 
 
The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2002  
   

   Note 2001/02 2000/01 
    $'000 $'000 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash Assets  12 618 695 
Receivables  13 1,121 406 
Other Assets  14 2 17 
Total Current Assets   1,741 1,118 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  
Plant and Equipment  15 49 69 
Total Non-Current Assets   49 69 

TOTAL ASSETS   1,790 1,187 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Payables  16 3 102 
Amounts due to the Treasurer  17 650 0 
Provisions  18 95 72 
Other Liabilities  19 14 20 
Total Current Liabilities   762 194 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   762 194 
 
EQUITY 
Accumulated Surplus  20 1,028 993 
Total Equity   1,028 993 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   1,790 1,187 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2002  
   

  Note 2001/02 2000/01 
    $'000 $'000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 Payments     
 Employee Costs   (649) (526) 
 Superannuation   (48) (39) 
 Supplies, Services and Administration Payments   (1,329) (900) 
 GST Payments on Purchases   (140) 0 
 
 Receipts 
 User Charges and Fees   1,290 1,418 
 Interest Received   27 38 
 GST Receipts from User Charges   75 0 
 GST Receipts from Taxation Authority   65 0 
 Net cash provided by/(used in) Operating Activities  21(b) (709) (9) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 Purchase of non-current physical assets   (18) (9) 
 Net cash provided by/(used in) Investing Activities   (18) (9) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 Treasurer’s Advance   650 0 
 Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   650 0 
 
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD   (77) (58) 
Cash Assets at the beginning of the financial year   695 753 
 
CASH ASSETS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  21 (a) 618 695 
 
 
The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

1. Significant accounting policies a. Estimates of the Regulator 

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements.  Unless otherwise stated these policies are consistent with 
those adopted in the previous year. 

The level to which the Regulator can incur expenditure is approved by the Minister.  
The Regulator also has the legislative right to recover the costs of his operations 
from the State's pipeline operators [See b. Funding, below].  The Regulator gains 
control of all such funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Regulator’s 
bank account. General Statement 

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has 
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Consensus Views as 
applied by the Treasurer's Instructions.  Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  The 
Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 and the Treasurer's Instructions are 
legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board, and UIG Consensus Views.  The modifications are intended to 
fulfil the requirements of general application to the public sector, together with the 
need for greater disclosure and also to satisfy accountability requirements. 

b. Funding 

Funding of the Regulator for the year ended 30 June 2002 was provided through 
authority to recover the costs of operations from pipeline owners in Western 
Australia. 

c. Grants and Other Contributions 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as 
revenue when the Regulator obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions.  Control is normally obtained on their receipt. 

Contributions are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions of service are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated. 

If any such modification has a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and where practicable, the resulting 
financial effect is disclosed in individual notes to these financial statements. 

d. Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets and the rendering of 
services, is recognised when the Regulator has passed control of the goods or 
other assets or delivery of the service to the customer. 

Basis of accounting 

The statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of reporting using the 
historical cost convention. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

e. Acquisition of Assets j. Amounts due to the Treasurer 
The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance, approval 
of which is renewed for each financial year.  The amount is therefore repayable 
within a maximum period of one year.  No interest is charged on this advance. 

The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets.  Cost is 
measured at the fair value of the assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the 
date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 

k. Employee entitlements f. Depreciation of Non-Current Assets 
Annual leave 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefit. 

This entitlement is recognised at current remuneration rates and is measured at 
the amount unpaid at the reporting date in respect to employees' service up to that 
date. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis, using rates which are 
reviewed annually.  Useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: Long service leave 

Leave entitlements are calculated at current remuneration rates.  A liability for long 
service leave is recognised after an employee has completed four years of service. 

 Plant 5 to 7 years 
 Office equipment 3 to 5 years 
g. Leases This method of measurement of the liability is consistent with the requirements of 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS 30 “Accounting for Employee Entitlements”. 
The Regulator has no finance lease commitments.  The Regulator has entered into 
a number of operating lease arrangements for the rent of Authority accommodation 
and for leased motor vehicles, where the lessors effectively retain all of the risks 
and benefits incident to ownership of the items held under the operating leases.  
Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the Statement of Financial 
Performance over the lease term as this is representative of the pattern of benefits 
to be derived from the leased property. 

Superannuation 

Staff may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefits pension scheme 
now closed to new members, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a 
defined benefit and lump sum benefit scheme now also closed to new members. 
All staff who do not contribute to either of these schemes become non-contributory 
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund 
complying with the Commonwealth Government's Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992.  All of these schemes are administered by the 
Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB). 

h. Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable as they are due for 
settlement 30 days from the date of recognition. 

The superannuation expense comprises employer contributions paid to the Gold 
State Superannuation Scheme and West State Superannuation Scheme. i. Payables 

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Regulator 
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services.  Payables are generally settled within 30 days. 

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees as 
this does not constitute part of the cost of services provided by the Authority in the 
current year. 
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m. Accrued Salaries 

n. Comparative Figures 

o. Rounding 

Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

From 1 July 2001 employer contributions were paid to the GESB in respect of the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme and the West State Superannuation Scheme.  
Prior to 1 July 2001, the unfunded liability in respect to these schemes was 
assumed by the Treasurer.  An amount equivalent to the employer contributions 
which would have been paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme and the 
West State Superannuation Scheme if the Authority had made concurrent 
employer contributions to those schemes, was included in superannuation 
expense. 

This amount was also included in the revenue item "Liabilities assumed by the 
Treasurer". 

l. Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Value 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value which can be reliably 
measured are recognised as revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate 
at fair value. 

m. Accrued Salaries 

Accrued salaries (refer note 19) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at 
the end of the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year 
does not coincide with the end of the financial year.  The Regulator considers the 
carrying amount to be the net fair value. 

n. Comparative Figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable 
with the figures presented in the current financial year. 

o. Rounding 

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 
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   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

2. EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 
 Wages and Salaries 660 601 
 Superannuation 48 39 
 Other Related Expenses 6 0 
   714 640 
 
3. SUPPLIES AND SERVICES 
 Consultants and Contractors 323 516 
   323 516 
 
4. DEPRECIATION EXPENSE 
 Plant 30 20 
 Office Equipment 8 13 
   38 33 
 
5. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES 
 Administration Expenses 189 344 
 Legal costs 671 0 
   860 344 
 Legal costs in 2001/02 are attributable to the Regulator’s involvement in actions 

taken by Epic Energy and Goldfields Gas Transmission challenging draft 
decisions issued by the Regulator in the Supreme Court of Western Australia. 

 
6. ACCOMMODATION EXPENSES 
 Lease Rentals 61 63 
 Repairs and Maintenance 1 0 
   62 63 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

7. USER CHARGES AND FEES 
 Recoup of Operating Costs, Standing Charges, Service Charges and Fees  1,966 1,740 
   1,966 1,740 
8. OTHER REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES   
 These consist of:   
  Recoup of shared administrative costs with Office of Rail Access Regulation 7 0 
  Interest received on bank balances 27 38 
  Interest received from outstanding debtors 14 0 
  Contributions by senior officers to the Government Motor Vehicle Scheme 2 2 
  Other Revenue 1 0 
   51 40 
 
9. LIABILITIES ASSUMED BY OTHER AGENCIES 
 Office of Energy - Treasurer's Advance Liability Extinguished 0 1,515 
   0 1,515 
 
10. LIABILITIES ASSUMED BY THE TREASURER 

Superannuation 0 39 
   0 39 
11. RESOURCES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE 
 Resources received free of charge determined on the basis of the following 

estimates provided by agencies: 
  Office of the Auditor General 5 4 
  Crown Solicitor's Office 10 28 
   15 32 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

12. CASH ASSETS 
 Operating Account 618 695 
   618 695 
 
13. RECEIVABLES 
 Accounts Receivable 1,104 406 
 Australian Taxation Office for GST 17 0 
   1,121 406 
 
14. OTHER ASSETS 
 Prepayments 2 17 
   2 17 
15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 Plant   
  At Cost 95 78 
  Accumulated Depreciation 68 39 
   27 39 
 Office Equipment   
  At Cost 55 55 
  Accumulated Depreciation 33 25 
   22 30 
 
   49 69 
 Reconciliations of the Carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning 

and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

 
 Plant   

   

  

   

   

 

Office Equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 

2002  

Carrying amount at start of year 39 30 69 

 

Additions 18 0 18 

Depreciation (30) (8) (38) 

Carrying amount at end of year 27 22 49 

2001    

Carrying amount at start of year 37 42 79 

Additions   

 

22 1 23 

Depreciation (20) (13) (33) 

Carrying amount at end of year 39 30 69 
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   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

16. PAYABLES 
 Amounts payable for goods and services received 3 102 
   3 102 
 
17. AMOUNTS DUE TO THE TREASURER 
 Treasurer’s Advance (borrowings from Government) 650 0 
   650 0 
 (The carrying amount of accounts payable approximates their net fair values.) 
 
18. PROVISIONS 
 Current: 
  Annual leave 56 43 
  Long service leave 39 29 
   95 72 
 Employee Entitlements 
 The aggregate employee entitlement liability recognised and included in the 

financial statements is as follows: 
  Provision for employee entitlements: 
  Current 95 72 
   95 72 
 
19. OTHER LIABILITIES 
 Accrued Salaries owing for the 6 working days from 
 20 June to 30 June 2002 (2001: 6 working days) 14 20 
   14 20 
20. EQUITY 
 Accumulated Surplus 
  Opening balance 993 (777) 
  Change in net assets 35 1,770 
 Closing balance 1,028 993 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

 
21. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 (a) Reconciliation of Cash 
 Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 

reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

 Cash Assets 618 695 
   618 695 
 (b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided 

by/(used in) operating activities 
 Net Cost of Services (20) 184 
 Non-Cash Items 
  Depreciation Expense 38 33 
  Superannuation Expense 0 39 
  Resources Received Free of Charge 15 32 
 (Increase)/Decrease in Assets: 
  Accounts Receivable (715) (344) 
  Other Current Assets 15 (12) 
 Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities: 
  Accounts Payable (99) 23 
  Amounts due to the Treasurer 650 0 
  Employee Entitlements 23 28 
  Other Liabilities (6) 8 
 Cash from non-operating activities: 
  Treasurer’s Advance (650) 0 
 
 Net cash used in operating activities (709) (9) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

 
22. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 
 Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not 

recognised as liabilities are payable: 
  Within one year 72 55 
   72 55 
 These commitments are all inclusive of GST. 
 
23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 The Regulator has no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2002. 
 
24. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE  
 A ruling by the Supreme Court of Western Australia on 23 August 2002 found that 

it would be appropriate for Epic Energy to be given declaratory relief.  The precise 
formulation of declaratory relief has not yet been decided by the Court. 

 
25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 (a) Interest rate risk exposure 
 The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk, repricing maturities and the effective 

interest rates on financial instruments are: 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

 

 2002  

         

2001

 Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

 
Floating 

interest rate 

 
Non interest 

bearing 

 
 

Total 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

 
Floating 

interest rate 

 
Non interest 

bearing 

 
 

Total 

% $’000 $’000 $’000 % $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets         

         

Cash Resources  4.36  618  0  618  5.63  695  0  695 

Accounts receivable  11.5  671  450  1,121  N/A  0  406  406 

Other Current Assets  N/A  0  2  2  N/A  0  17  17 

Total Financial assets   1,289  452  1,741    695  423  1,118 

Liabilities         

         

     

Accounts payable  N/A  0  3  3  N/A  0  102  102 

Accrued salaries  N/A  0  14  14  N/A  0  20  20 

Employee entitlements  N/A  0  95  95  N/A  0  72  72 

Treasurer's Advance  N/A  0  650  650  N/A  0  0  0 

Total Financial liabilities   0  762  762   0  194  194 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  1,289  (310)  979  695  229  924
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   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

(b) Credit risk 
 All financial assets are unsecured. Amounts owing by other government agencies 

are guaranteed and therefore no credit risk exists in respect of those amounts. In 
respect of other financial assets the carrying amounts represent the Regulator’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to those assets. 

 (c) Net fair value of Financial Instruments 
 The carrying amounts of cash at bank, accounts receivable, accrued salaries and 

employee entitlements are considered to reflect their net fair value. 
 
26. REMUNERATION OF ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY 
 The Accountable Authority’s total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other 

benefits received, or due and receivable, for the financial year, who fall within the 
following band: 

  2001/02 2000/01 

 $110,001 - $120,000 1 0 

 $120,001 - $130,000 0 1 

Total remuneration of Accountable Authority is: 115 123 

 
 The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense 

incurred by the Regulator in respect of the Accountable Authority.  The 
Accountable Authority is not a member of the Pension Scheme. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2002  
   

   2001/02 2000/01 
   $'000 $'000 

27. REMUNERATION OF SENIOR OFFICERS 
 
 The number of Senior Officers whose total of fees, salaries and other benefits 

received, or due and receivable, for the financial year, who fall within the following 
bands is: 

 

  2001/02 2000/01 

 $90,001 - $100,000 0 1 

 $120,001 - $130,000 1 0 

 Total remuneration of senior officers is: 125 95 
 
 The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense 

incurred by the Regulator in respect of the senior officer.  The senior officer is not 
a member of the Pension Scheme. 

 
28. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 There have been no assets or other public property written off during the financial 

year, neither have there been instances of losses through theft, default or other 
causes during the financial year. 



A number of terms and commonly used abbrevia-

tions have specific meanings within the regulatory

framework for natural gas pipelines and in relation

to the activities of the Regulator.  To assist in the

reading of this annual report, these terms and

abbreviations are defined as follows.

TERMINOLOGY

Access Arrangement : a documented arrangement

for access to a natural gas pipeline or gas distribu-

tion network setting out the general policies of the

service provider in relation to the provision of

pipeline services, the terms and conditions for a set

of standard or 'reference' services, and the prices

(reference tariffs) for these services.

Associate Contract: a contract, arrangement or

understanding between a provider of pipeline serv-

ices and an associated business in connection with

the provision of a pipeline service.

Code: the National Third Party Access Code for

Natural Gas Pipeline Systems, as contained in

Schedule 2 of the Gas Pipelines Access (Western

Australia) Act 1998.

Covered Pipeline : a pipeline or part of a pipeline

that is subject to regulation under the provisions of

the Code.

Distribution System: a system or network of gas

pipelines established for the transportation of gas

typically from a high-pressure gas transmission

pipeline to locations of gas consumption.

Equivalent Standard Pipeline: a gas pipeline

measured on the basis of capital value that is set at

$500m and: 

• is weighted to take into account the level of serv-

ice estimated to be provided to such a regulated 

pipeline;

• takes into account completed and partly complet-

ed work in terms of fully completed work; and

• recognises that pipelines may be regulated for 

part of the year only.

Pipeline: a gas pipeline or pipeline system.

Reference Service: a service for, or relating to, the

transportation of gas that is specified in an Access

Arrangement and for a reference tariff that is speci-

fied in that Access Arrangement.

Reference Tariff: a schedule of charges and/or set

of criteria that, when applied to the characteristics

of a user of a reference service, determine the

charge payable for the service by the user to the

service provider.

Ring Fencing: the legal, financial and/or opera-

tional segregation of business activities of a pipeline

service provider from other business activities of

that service provider, particularly activities relating

to the trading of natural gas.
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Transmission Pipeline: a gas pipeline used for the

transportation of gas typically between a location of

gas supply or production to the general location of

gas use, but not typically to end users of gas with

the exception of very large users of gas that may

take gas delivery directly from transmission

pipelines.

ABBREVIATIONS

CMS: CMS Gas Transmission of Australia

OffGAR: the Office of Gas Access Regulation

NGPAC: the National Gas Pipelines Advisory

Committee
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CONTACT DETAILS

Contact details for the Western Australian

Independent Gas Pipelines Access Regulator

are as follows:

Location:

Postal address:

Telephone:

Facsimile:

Email:

Web site:

Office of Gas Access Regulation

Level 6, Governor Stirling Tower

197 St George's Terrace

PERTH WA 6000

GPO Box 8469  

PERTH BUSINESS CENTRE WA 6849

National: (08) 9213 1900

International: +61 8 9213 1900

National: (08) 9213 1999

International: +61 8 9213 1999

enquiry@offgar.wa.gov.au

http://www.offgar.wa.gov.au/

http://www.offgar.wa.gov.au/
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